











Measuring the economic impact of Wellspring Healthy Living Centre's Social Prescribing *Wellbeing Programme* for low level mental health issues encountered by GP services

> By: Dr Richard Kimberlee with Rachel Ward, Mathew Jones and Jane Powell.

March 2014



# For more information please contact:

Dr. Richard. H. Kimberlee Senior Research Fellow Faculty of Health and Life Sciences University of the West of England Glenside Campus Blackberry Hill Stapleton Bristol BS16 1DD

E-mail: Richard.kimberlee@uwe.ac.uk

Mobile: 07946189086 Skype: Kimberlee.richard

# **Acknowledgments**

We would like to firstly acknowledge the support and assistance provided to this research of all the staff at Wellspring Healthy Living Centre; and in particular the CEO Ian Lawry. This report is informed by some of the interviews and work that have been undertaken not just with stakeholders, practitioners and beneficiaries associated with Wellspring Healthy Living Centre, but with other social prescribing practitioners and beneficiaries involved with social prescribing services in the city of Bristol and the South West of England. This includes: Knowle West Healthy Living Centre, Positive Mind Bristol, the New Directions Project in Keynsham, Care Forum, Second Step, the Orchard Medical Centre in Kingswood, Windmill Hill City Farm, the Light Box project, LinkAge, Willow Tree Surgery and the Social Mirror Project in Knowle West.

Particular thanks should go to Peter Kirmond the Wellspring GP Practice Strategic Business Manager: for his tireless, unpaid, labour in preparing and presenting anonymised GP referral and attendance data for this research. The two health workers from Wellspring Healthy Living Centre for assisting as gatekeepers to access new and old beneficiaries who have been service users of the Wellbeing Programme. Kate Oliver the General Manager of Care Forum for her work in supporting this project. And Tim Blanc from the social enterprise company Co-opportunity who assisted with the development of the database.

We have seen how hard it is to engage some people, and how much patience and time some people need. In health we are often quick to judge, slow to listen, and feel too busy to care in the way we would want to. Having \*\*\*\*\*\* (a local social prescribing project) as a partner in our striving to deliver good care for our registered population is like having an extra pair of arms. The team are amazing in their resourcefulness and we are very much richer for the work they are doing.

(A local GP who refers to a social prescribing project)

# Contents

| Contents  |  | 5   |
|---|--|-----|
| Executive Summary   |  | 6   |
| Introduction  |  | 11  |
| The Wellbeing Programme at the Wellspring Healthy Living Centre |  | 26  |
| The Methodology   |  |     |
| Evidence of impact of the Wellspring Programme                  |  |     |
| The cost-effectiveness of the Wellbeing Programme               |  | 52  |
| Establishing Impact   |  | 65  |
| Conclusion and Recommendations                                  |  | 69  |
| References  |  | 73  |
| Abbreviations   |  | 85  |
| Glossary  |  | 87  |
| Appendices  |  | 89  |
|   | Appendix 1: Information and consent forms                | 89  |
|   | Appendix 2: Stakeholder interview schedule               | 100 |
|   | Appendix 3: Registration Form                            | 102 |
|   | Appendix 4: the new beneficiary interview schedule       | 107 |
|   | Appendix 5: The Wellspring Wellbeing Questionnaire (WWQ) | 116 |

# **Executive summary**

#### Introduction

Social prescribing projects from the third sector can present a lot of qualitative evidence to demonstrate the transformative effect their intervention has on beneficiary' lives. Their impact should not be underestimated. However, the challenge for third sector organizations is to systematically collect quantitative evidence of the positive impact they have on people's lives. This requires the development of tools to capture their value.

It has been made clear that there is a growing crisis in primary care and with GP services in particular. According to the chair of the Royal College of General Practitioners general practice needs extra investment and at least 10,000 more GPs by 2022 to meet the population's growing and increasingly complex health needs (Gerada, 2013).

Links between primary health care services and third sector organizations are often underdeveloped and require considerable time and patience to develop and evolve (South, 2008:310). The social prescribing projects that are evolving and which have been identified and discussed in this report represent a considerable pioneering achievement and are a testament to the level of partnership work undertaken by GP practices and third sector organizations.

It is very clear from the literature review and the interviews/focus groups undertaken in a scoping exercise for this report that there is no single, agreed, understanding of what constitutes social prescribing. This report addresses this problem and outlines three different models of social prescribing to help describe the types of social prescribing services delivered: Social Prescribing Light, Social Prescribing Medium and Social Prescribing Holistic.

Social prescribing *holistic* projects like Wellspring Healthy Living Centre's Wellbeing Programme are adopting a holistic and preventive approach to health needs and seek to work with beneficiaries with long-term conditions. They encourage beneficiaries to play a central role in managing their own care. This intervention has emerged from an organic partnership that has developed between them and local GPs. Both perceived there was a need to utilize alternative approaches to promote beneficiary wellbeing.

We have found only one randomised control trial to assess the cost effectiveness of social prescribing. It looked at an intervention we would describe as social prescribing medium. Its conclusion was that beneficiaries of the project were seen to be less depressed and less anxious, but their care was more costly compared with routine care and their contact with primary care was not reduced (Grant et al, 2000:419).

#### Method

This research evaluates the impacts of the *holistic* social prescribing, Wellbeing Programme delivered by the Wellspring Healthy Living Centre. As a *holistic* social prescribing approach it is representative of many third sector led interventions seeking to support local primary care services. It offers GP-referred patients 12 weeks of one to one support followed by 12 months of group support around a particular activity. Socio-economic impact was measured through *Social Return On Investment* approach using a pre and post intervention interview methodology using the Wellspring Wellbeing Questionnaire tool. This tool was used to help *Prove Our Value*. The tool was developed to include validated items that would be recognised by commissioners as suitable for providing evidence of impact.

#### **Impact**

Data collected using the Wellspring Wellbeing Questionnaire suggests that three months after a beneficiary's induction on the intervention beneficiaries show statistically significant improvement in: PHQ9 scale for depression (p=<0.001), GAD7 scale for anxiety (p=<0.001), the Friendship Scale for isolation (p=<0.001), the ONS Wellbeing measures (item range p=<0.05 through to p= 0.001), perceived economic wellbeing (p=<0.001) and the International Physical Activity Questionnaire items for *moderate exercise*.

Analysis of GP contact times also suggest that for 60% of beneficiaries there is a reduction in their GP attendance rates in the 12 months post intervention compared to the 12 months period prior to referral. For 26% of beneficiaries it stayed the same and for 14% it actually increased.

A key outcome highlighted by social prescribing practitioners is that they perceive their intervention is not simply about achieving positive outcomes like: improved well-being, a return to work or training etc. Instead it is about addressing embedded and unaddressed/undiagnosed issues like: agoraphobia brought on by abusive neighbours, relationship breakdown, addiction etc. It can also be preventative in the sense that it helps to prevent beneficiaries spiralling down to worse scenarios.

## Cost-effectiveness

In a recent review of the economic costs involved in mental health prevention the importance of intervening to prevent worse outcomes cannot be underestimated (Platt et. al.2006). Simply looking at non-fatal suicide events it is estimated that costs are averted to £66,797 per year/person of working age where suicide is delayed. Figures vary depending on the means of the suicide attempt. 14% of costs are associated with A&E attendance and medical or surgical care; but more than 70% of costs are incurred through follow-up with psychiatric inpatient and outpatient care (Knapp et al, 2011:26).

Commissioners should be aware of the additional economic value provided through social prescribing projects like the Wellbeing Programme. These include: harnessing volunteers, beneficiaries returning to employment and training and resuming child care responsibilities and community capacity enhanced. Savings are also made through beneficiaries being guided into appropriate services and supported to address the variety of problems and issues they present with in general practice. These include addiction problems, debt management issues, anger management etc. This report outlines the significant costs averted as a result of the Wellbeing Programme.

A recent report of the government's Work Programme's first year shows that 19% of participants have spent 26 continuous weeks off benefit (DWP, 2012:5). Some of the Wellbeing Programme's added value comes from getting people back into work. 17% (n=9) of beneficiaries who at baseline described themselves as looking for work, long term sick, in education or training or on bail, actually found employment suggesting that the adoption of *holistic* social prescribing approaches are performing a return to work service as effective as the Work Programme.

Having established the social impact of the Wellbeing Programme we calculate a Social Return On Investment ratio of £2.90:£1. This means that for every pound of investment in the intervention, £2.90 of social value is created. We feel this is a very parsimonious reflection of the actual value created. Health economists like Knapp et al (2011) suggest quantifying these impacts across all beneficiary life years, whereas we are just reflecting on one year of value.

# **Conclusion and Recommendations**

Data monitoring methodologies are under developed across the third sector. This includes many projects that deliver social prescribing. Wellspring Healthy Living Centre have put considerable effort and time into developing data monitoring and evaluation processes to ensure they are well placed to *Prove Their Value*.

If policy makers and commissioners want to develop the scope and scale of primary care services it has been recommended that they will need to put in place innovative measures that could build on partnerships to address complex needs. Third sector partners like those discussed in this report have been shown to have the ability to help Clinical Commissioning Groups and the Department of Health to rebalance the way health services are delivered to address long term conditions that are a growing drain on health resources.

The Nuffield Trust has recommended that NHS England should work with CCGs, GPs, patient groups and professional bodies to create a national framework for primary care. The framework should set out the outcomes and overall vision for primary care, both in relation to service provision and the wider role of primary care in the health and social care system.

They recommend that this needs to be worked out locally with extensive public and patient engagement (Smith, 2013:15). Third sector organizations have a clear opportunity to be part of this process. New models for primary care could include social prescribing projects that seek to address the growing burden of mental health in the UK.

Right from the beginning of the *Proving Our Value* project the University of the West of England, Bristol and Wellspring Healthy Living Centre agreed that we would adopt a Social Return On Investment methodology to assess the value created by the intervention. As a framework it provides useful guidelines to third sector organisations that would enable them to understand the process. By pursuing this approach third sector organizations will get more than an understanding of the value they create. It empowers them to see competing theories of change. It involves stakeholders in mapping out impact, attributing value and collecting evidence. And for the third sector organization they have an audit tool which enables them to understand where most of their value is created. We think this makes the methodology more suited to the third sector to *Prove Their Value*.

Arguably the Social Return On Investment cost effectiveness method varies little from traditional cost-benefit analysis; the traditional tool of choice for economists. However the differences between the two approaches are largely in the style of each approach, rather than substance (Arvidson et al 2010:7).

Getting a perspective on costs and value are key to developing a business case to ensure the third sector organization's sustainability in the future. Prior to this there had only been one attempt to undertake a cost-benefit analysis of the social prescribing approach (Grant et al, 2000) and this was an extremely limited study.

The *Proving Our Value* project comes at a pertinent time. Research cited by the British Academy suggests that as little as 20% of the influences on health are to attributable to clinical care and the quality of care. Instead health behaviours account for 30% of influences and the physical environment for 10%. But by far the most important influence on our wellbeing comes from socioeconomic factors: 40% of all influences (British Academy, 2014:3). This is important. Social prescribing projects are working in communities that face some of the toughest challenges, including: deprivation, unemployment, health inequalities and dilemmas posed by the co-existence of diverse cultures.

Since the recent reforms in local governance and the Health and Social Care Act (2012) local authorities have become major players in health. The recent transfer of responsibility for public health to local government and the creation of health and wellbeing boards add to their influence. Despite a considerable reduction in their resources, there now exists a real opportunity for local authorities and local communities to make a difference. With shrinking resources and an impending crisis in GP provision (Gerada, 2013) there are now calls for the

development of new approaches to meet local health needs and this includes the need for more investment in preventative interventions to address health need according to a recently published Kings Fund report (Addicott et al, 2014). Social prescribing projects like the Wellbeing Programme can be a useful additional tool for commissioners to invest in to address the increasing burden of patients presenting with low level mental health issues.

# Introduction

The principle aim of this research was to measure the social and economic impact of Wellspring Healthy Living Centre's (WHLC) Wellbeing Programme (WP); a social prescribing (SP) project. In the broadest sense a SP project provides non-medical solutions to wellbeing challenges presented by beneficiaries in primary care settings.

Wellspring's Wellbeing Programme is an early-intervention strategy, based on the social-prescribing model (WHLC, Accessed 29<sup>th</sup> October 2013)

Our involvement in the *Proving Our Value* project emerged from conversations that developed between the University of the West of England, Bristol (UWE) and WHLC. The two institutions already had a good track record of partnership working. Previous collaborations included Professor Norma Daykin's *Arts Programme* (2008/9) which was developed with WHLC service users. This research project focused on measurable outcomes relating to beneficiary wellbeing, participation and feelings about the local neighbourhood.

Subsequent to this the Principal Investigator and two other researchers from UWE undertook an evaluation of the Big Lottery funded South West Wellbeing (SWWB) project, of which WHLC was a SWWB consortium partner. Key to this work was offering encouragement to consortium members to build their capacity to develop consistent and replicable registration information and linking this to evaluative tools. In this case our SWWB questionnaire (Jones and Kimberlee, 2009), included many validated items on wellbeing. These items were also subsequently incorporated into the new economics foundation (nef) national wellbeing evaluation. We helped to develop and embed the SWWB database which was used by the WHLC and consortia partners to track beneficiaries on the SWWB programme. This database was used for all SWWB projects. It provided them with management information at an instant. It was the culmination of a partnership with the social enterprise company Co-opportunity and is now used extensively by third sector consortium members. WHLC have always been a beacon for embracing management information systems to assist their learning to deliver effective services. This research envisaged that the database currently utilized could be a potential model for other third sector organizations in the health and community sectors to use.

Our evaluation of the Big Lottery funded SWWB programme (Jones and Kimberlee, 2011) demonstrated that through a holistic service approach work in one area (e.g. wellbeing) delivers wider health benefits for service users (e.g. changed diets, enhanced social capital scores etc.). However the economic value of these gains, have hitherto, been insufficiently quantified. Given that a recent review of economic indicators suggested that there were

insufficient validated indicators to reliably measure social prescribing performance (McDaid, 2008) our partnership evolved to attempt to fill this gap.

## Social prescribing

But what is a social prescribing approach? One of the initiatives that have developed out of this research, which has bought added value to the *Proving Our Value* portfolio, was that the Principal Investigator was invited by the Bristol CCG to undertake a scoping exercise of existing SP projects and make recommendations on how to develop SP across the authority. To this end the Principal Investigator convened three focus groups with: SP practitioners and service users (8 participants), Bristol City Council/Public Health employees (6 participants) and with GPs (4 participants). This was supplemented with interviews with 20 individual self defined SP projects across the city (Kimberlee, 2013). This scoping exercise enabled the researchers to explore the range of SP practice locally.

What is clear from this scoping exercise and the literature review is that there is no single, agreed understanding of what constitutes SP. Or what interventions/approaches can be called SP. In a lot of the literature including local policy documentation around the modernising mental health agenda SP is often used interchangeably with social intervention (Bristol NHS, 2012). In fact the term SP is applied to a variety of different interventions aimed at promoting well-being and/or health.

Nevertheless our partners for the POV research (Care Forum) have worked hard with a range of SP practitioners from different third sector organizations in Bristol to create a space to provide organizations with an to opportunity to reflect on their practice and develop a definition of their work:

Social prescribing provides a pathway to refer clients to non-clinical services, linking clients to support from within the community to promote their wellbeing, to encourage social inclusion, to promote self-care where appropriate and to build resilience within the community and for the individual (Social Prescribing in Bristol Working Group, 2012).

This is a good definition and one that took the Social Prescribing in Bristol Working Group considerable time to develop. Afterall, SP is a complex intervention with many parameters.

But, for understanding of SP delivered by the third sector the definition of SP needed more development. At a general level SP has emerged as a mechanism for linking people using primary care with support in the community (Brown et al., 2004, Scottish Development Centre for Mental Health, 2007:12). It is actually sometimes referred to as community

referral. SP projects usually have a referral system in place and the SP element is often, but not exclusively delivered by the third sector. The driver is the limited time that GPs have to explore with patients the underlying psycho-social issues affecting their health (Grayer et al 2008). In adopting this approach there is some evidence to suggest that addressing psychological problems and low levels of wellbeing among frequent attenders in general practice helps to reduce GP attendance (Dowrick et al. 2000; Heywood et al. 1998).

So, SP involves the creation of referral pathways that allow primary health care patients with non-clinical needs to be directed to third sector organizations. Such schemes typically use community development workers or health workers with local knowledge or with skills to *navigate* resources locally. SP interventions are therefore formally linked to primary health care settings. SP interventions assist individual beneficiaries who present with social or psychological needs to access health resources and social support outside of the NHS. But they may also assist with patients who may present with a somatoform disorder i.e. where a patient has a mental disorder characterized by symptoms that suggest physical illness or injury. These are symptoms that cannot be explained fully by the patient. Or, where the GP believes, a non-medical approach could achieve better outcomes. These patients usually have not received a formal mental health diagnosis before. In fact they may not be suffering from a mental health disorder at all. But they are patients who present symptoms to GPs for which there are no obvious medical solutions.

SP therefore strengthens links between health care providers and third sector service providers. In these services there are potential solutions: to the wider determinants of mental health, for example, leisure, welfare, education, culture, employment and the environment (Scottish Development Centre for Mental Health, 2003:5). But these links between primary health care services and the third sector still remain underdeveloped, but they actually require considerable time and patience to develop and evolve (South, 2008:310).

In many SP projects the focus is often on vulnerable and at risk groups and people with enduring and long term mental health problems (Frasure-Smith 2000, Greene 2000, Harris 1999). But what characterises SP more than anything else is that they are services that are seen as offering a *holistic* approach (Brandling and House, 2007) to a beneficiary. And in many ways SP is also providing a route to reduce social exclusion, both for disadvantaged, isolated and vulnerable populations in general, and for people with enduring mental health problems (Evans, et al., 2011). Until the arrival of SP, Popay (2007) argued that: GPs had limited responses to the social issues often presented in surgeries. If they did refer it was often without a supportive framework to achieve a successful outcome (Brandling and House, 2009).

In their essence SP offers a local solution galvanising local resources to help their beneficiaries:

Social prescribing creates a formal means of enabling primary care services to refer patients with social, emotional or practical needs to a variety of holistic, local non-Clinical services (Brandling and House, 2007).

In the Netherlands the Dutch College of General Practitioners are actually adopting SP approaches as a first response. They recommend that drug treatment should not be the first step for patients exhibiting only depressive symptoms, a move that professional associations believe could substantially reduce the Netherlands' 1,000,000 antidepressant users (Sheldon, 2012:345). SP therefore aims to provide a referred patient with a *holistic* package of support tailored to their individual need. Practitioners often highlight that beneficiaries would primarily be around the diagnostic clusters 1-8 (i.e. enduring mild to moderate anxiety or very severe and complex) rather than cluster 10-21 (for psychosis or an organic disorder) when classified using standard measuring tools (See DoH Mental Health Clustering Booklet 2011-12 in McKee, 2011); although in practice all SP projects work with clients beyond the 1-8 clusters.

SP packages can often be delivered through or alongside other opportunities e.g.: arts and creativity, physical activity, learning new skills, volunteering, mutual aid, befriending and self-help etc. This could involve the SP health worker offering an array of support around issues as diverse as: quitting smoking, addiction, relationship problems through to practical things like advice around: housing, debt, legal advice, benefits or parenting problems. The Health Workers at the WHLC offer additional skills around complementary therapies including Reiki.

## Different models of social prescribing

Following the scoping exercise of local SP provision it was clear from discussions with providers, practitioners and local authority employees that there was no clear agreement as to what they mean by SP. A recent attempt to try and describe different SP models and approaches simply outlines the complexity without trying to distil them into types (Friedli, 2007:11-12). Focus group discussions tended to reach a reasoned understanding of what constitutes SP but only after considerable deliberation. But even then people did not necessarily agree on all aspects of SP or whether their experience of SP matched any broadly agreed criteria. To capture the range of diverse approaches to SP offered by third sector organizations across the local area the Principal Investigator devised different models

to describe the SP services currently on offer to beneficiaries. This was an attempt to capture and present the range of SP offerings available to inform our understanding of where WHLCs WP fits in the spectrum of SP on offer. Most of the offerings do not conform to the definition of SP suggested by Brandling and House (2007). This model of SP we call: *Social Prescribing Holistic* (Kimberlee, 2013). SP interventions in this category share certain clear features:

- There is a direct primary care **referral**, usually from a GP practice, to an external SP provider. This is often formalised in terms of a letter, form, an on-line application or even a telephone call.
- The SP provider has a clear **local** remit and draws on local knowledge of local services to connect beneficiaries to important sources of support and aid.
- The SP intervention has been developed and sustained jointly over time and in its present form represents a product of joint **partnership** work between the primary care provider and the SP provider.
- The SP provider addresses the beneficiary's needs in a holistic way. A patient may be referred to a SP project to improve diet, but in doing so the SP project will look at all needs and may offer support in terms of any issue discovered e.g. budgeting, nutrition, loneliness etc.
- There are **no limits** to the number of times a beneficiary is seen on a SP project. Time parameters may be set but the number of sessions offered can be more or less depending on the needs discovered in the holistic approach.
- SP projects seek to improve beneficiary' well-being. They may not necessarily initially be concerned with addressing mental health issues (although some are).
   Most beneficiaries who attend SP projects have undiagnosed mental health issues.
   Although in adopting a holistic approach the SP project may delineate the mental health needs of the beneficiary and these will be addressed or sometimes a beneficiary will be referred on to other mental health services.

In the city of Bristol there are 57 GP surgeries (Shepherd, 2010) of which 12% (n=7) are known to practice some form of SP. There are probably more but there may be some not yet known to the research team. All the projects would describe themselves as SP. However they do not necessarily contain all the elements outlined above in the SP *Holistic* model. They contain some elements and may even be in a transition to another model.

## Social Prescribing as Signposting

In this model the SP project is doing little more than signposting beneficiaries onto appropriate networks and groups who may assist an individual beneficiary to address their wellbeing needs. All SP models have an element of signposting in their delivery. GPs can directly refer to the project and leave the patient to their own devices to access and follow through on the local wellbeing offerings available. Or the SP project may seek to address beneficiary needs independent of the GP and will simply share the space of the practice but not necessarily have any regular or formal link with GPs. The activities that they may be referred too could include: a gym, a cooking project, peer support or a variety of counselling opportunities etc. The practice may not have a strong direct relationship with the SP project and their maybe little follow-up and/or feedback. The projects will have only minimal evaluation of outcomes. Local examples of this model would include the Social Mirror Project, in Knowle West and the Well Aware project delivered by the Care Forum.

To be effective SP very much depends on staff having good knowledge of what services are available in their local community. Mapping local, community groups and services into electronic health directories to facilitate signposting and referral helps SP projects to develop their knowledge base of what is available (Coulter 2013:16). However to be effective SP projects tend to also employ local, trained, community health trainers to assist in the development and implementation of a signposting project. As well as providing a variety of support services alongside the database they also take up the opportunity to improve beneficiary lifestyle by linking advice and practical support around health issues like smoking, stress, diet, alcohol, physical activity and obesity etc. This approach has been developed by HealthWORKS in Newcastle. A recent evaluation of this project revealed that: 70% of all referrals did engage with a link worker of which 91% set goals. Of those that were set goals 41% achieved their goals, but 59% did not. Monitoring data shows 69% of patients, based on completed records, experienced an increase in Short Warwick and Edinburgh Mental Well Being Scale (SWEMWB) score and that 64% have achieved an increase in confidence in managing their long-term condition (ERS, 2013:54).

#### Social Prescribing Light

This is perhaps the most common form of SP. These are community and/or primary-care based projects which refer at risk or vulnerable patients to a specific programme to address a specific need or to encourage a patient to reach a specific objective e.g. exercise on prescription, prescription for learning and arts on prescription (see Aldridge and Lavender, 2000; Friedli and Watson, 2004; Tyldesley and Rigby, 2003; and Millin, 2003). Again locally third sector organizations delivering such models include a 'Wellbeing (Social) Prescription' walking project run at the Whitchurch GP surgery in Bristol. The initiative is new and only recently developed in response to a local need to address social isolation through walking.

As such SP Light projects would not necessarily have evolved through a partnership with a GP service and there would not necessarily be a feedback loop to monitor progress and would remain singular in the need addressed.

# Social Prescribing Medium

The best example of this approach in the South West can be found at the College Surgery Partnership in Cullompton, Devon. It was developed by senior partner Michael Dixon who had been a GP in Cullompton for 26 years. He had been chair of NHS Alliance, representing primary care, PCTs and practice based commissioners since 1998. He is a Senior Associate of the King's Fund and Honorary Senior Fellow in Public Policy at Birmingham University. Like other SP initiatives their SP project includes the employment of a Health Facilitator. This role developed out of an exercise on prescription scheme (SP Light) developed by local surgeries and the local Council ten years before.

The health facilitator sees referred patients. Using Life Check and other tools the facilitator provides advice on exercise, nutrition, diet etc. The facilitator would promote self-care using an on line Thought Field Therapy programme (rather like CBT) and also signpost to third sector organizations or self-help groups e.g. for specific disease areas — like patients with heart disease, diabetes and fibromyalgia or for specific needs - e.g. a Knit and Natter group for people who are socially isolated. Although the project has a clear local remit in that it works within a distinct geographically defined neighbourhood and it is the product of joint partnership work with third sector partners. It does not obviously seek to address the beneficiary' needs in a *holistic* way instead it aims to address certain needs or behaviours identified by the GP.

# Social Prescribing Holistic

This model is sometimes known as the Bromley-By-Bow Model. In essence it is a flexible model and represents the development of a project that had previously delivered at a lower level of SP. Thus these SP projects tend to evolve organically over time. They have also evolved in partnerships between a GP surgery and a third sector organization. They are innovative and are seen by local practitioners to be a catalyst for enabling health providers to think much more creatively and holistically about addressing people's wide-ranging mental health and social care needs within a non-stigmatising and empowering approach (CSIP 2009:9). They have frequently emerged to meet an acknowledged local need e.g. somatoform patients, vulnerable families, high attendees, people with certain mental health issues. They have also emerged because the GP practice accepts that an alternative solution should be considered to address a perceived health need or issue that they themselves cannot immediately address in the normal appointment time. In acknowledging the issue they also accept that the SP project offers a potential solution to the issue.

These projects, like WHLC WP are frequently built over a long time. They are not a quick fix or a bolt-on. They are a reasoned intervention developed through partnership. For example the Bromley-By-Bow SP approach evolved out of the development of a local Healthy Living Centre built in 1999. The approach sought to break down barriers that had traditionally separated services in a bid to meet the diverse needs of their patients. Primary Care services are run as a GP partnership and their other services operate as a charity with their own distinct but connected governance arrangements. GPs have a referral letter on their desk top and they tick what a client needs are perceived to be e.g. anything from dietary advice through to welfare advice, housing advice etc. (Beavers, 2013:5). GP Dr Everington from the local CCG argued that:

From a GPs perspective it broadens the armoury of what they can prescribe, gives an alternative to a drug prescription and also reduces GP's workload. (Beavers, 2013:5).

In the South West there have been attempts to develop SP holistic projects. WHLC's SP project represents the most comprehensive local project pursuing a *holistic* approach in Bristol. The project is based in Barton Hill, Bristol at the WHLC which was founded by local residents in 2004. It evolved from several initiatives aimed at addressing beneficiary well-being developed through the centre. WHLC serves one of the most deprived communities in England. Wellspring is based in the Lawrence Hill ward of Bristol. It is one of Bristol's most deprived wards with six of the seven Super Output Areas in the worst 10% nationally on indices of deprivation. Local residents of this ward are reported to have the least 'satisfaction with life' in their neighbourhood in Bristol and were the least 'happy' (Bristol City Council, 2013:11, Accessed 20<sup>th</sup> May 2013). Given the extent of deprivation it is clear from research that there is likely to be under registration at GP practices. For example in Manchester it is known that only 78% of names and addresses held on general practice registers can be matched with equivalent records held on the council tax system (Pollack et al 2012b, 344).

All holistic SP projects are characterised by direct referral routes from GPs. These referral routes will have been developed over time. The mode of referral can vary. One project has a flagging system on the GPs' computers across three surgeries while another has a specific form with suggested activities to be considered. Letters of introduction have also been used. Actual utilisation of the prescription by the beneficiary is in all cases voluntary. Which underlines a central tenet of SP: beneficiary engagement with the process is important and SP exists to encourage beneficiaries to seek solutions and develop self-management techniques.

The promotion of patient self-management and resilience is crucial to SP. It endeavours to ensure that the beneficiaries have the skills to look after themselves. In some ways SPs have parallels with the House of Care model developed and tested by the Year of Care programme in 2011/2 by Diabetes UK and the Department of Health (DoH). This was piloted on more than 3000 practitioners and 60 trainers working in 26 communities around England (Coulter, 2013). It was about developing personalised care planning. It involves clinicians and patients working together using a collaborative process of shared decision-making to agree goals, identify beneficiary support needs to develop and implement action plans and monitor their progress. In the programme the intervention is a continuous process, and not a one-off, bolt on event (Coulter, 2013).

But, why is SP delivered by third sector partners becoming important? We argue that there are three distinct pressures leading to the health sector services increasingly utilising SP. These are: the increasing pressure on GP services, the growing burden (and cost) of mental health and the modernisation of mental health services.

#### GP Practice under strain

There is mounting evidence to suggest that primary care services are under increasing strain. GP surgeries are facing an increase in the numbers of patients attending their surgeries. They are presenting with complex needs and in reality GPs are not necessarily equipped to handle all the social and psychological burdens they present. The service itself is also changing. It has come a long way from a model where patients were examined in their own living room. GPs now usually practice in stand-alone surgeries and healthy living centres which offer an ever broadening range of services. Which services they develop and offer can vary across GP practices. But these changes and pressures coupled with complex reforms have led Clare Gerada the Chair of the UK's College of General Practitioners (CGP) to conclude that GP is in crisis! (Gerada, 2013, Accessed 8th October 2013). Survey work commissioned by the College and undertaken by the Kings Fund reveals that:

- 85% of GPs believe their service is in crisis;
- nearly, 50% think they can no longer guarantee safe patient care;
- 50% felt their job had got more stressful;
- most GPs are conducting 40-60 patient consultations each day and working
   11 hour days in the consulting room;
- and, most GPs predict that patients will have to wait longer for an appointment in the future.

(Gerada, 2013, Accessed 8th October 2013)

Additional stresses are being caused with pressures to extend hours of opening. And there are increasing numbers of people reporting that they are sick. In 1995 patients visited GPs

on average 3.9x a year; this has now increased to 5.5x a year. GP attendances have climbed from 17.8m in 2004-5 to 21.7m in the first 11 months of 2012-13, pushing annual tally to more than 24m. (Campbell 2013:4). With the increasing attendance GPs are having a reduced impact in terms of effective diagnosis of mental health conditions. It is reported that GPs are only recognising between a fifth and a half of the psycho-social issues patients that present with in GP (Gulbrandson, et al 1997). Psychosocial problems are increasingly common in primary care consultations. Social difficulties are often portrayed initially by patients as either physical or psychological problems, such as chronic pain or mood disorder (Cawston, 2011). And Popay et al (2007a) found that in total three quarters of social problems elicited in GP consultations were initially portrayed as either physical or psychological complaints. The most common social problems elicited by the GPs were difficulties relating to welfare benefits and housing (Popay et al, 2007a). It is not always easy for patients to distinguish between medical and social problems, and hence both types of problems may be brought to a GP consultation (Cawston, 2011).

With an aging population this burden is only going to increase and it is anticipated that consultation rates will rise by 5% over the next 20 years. GPs also perceive that their patients are demanding better services and expect more. In particular younger patients are seen as less likely to grin and bear their ailments compared to older generations (Everington, 2013). And unlike other health services primary care has no waiting list or referral criteria—they are forced to deal with the *here and now* in all its ramifications on a daily basis (Hardy, 2013:347).

With pressures on GPs growing some GPs are advocating and developing new approaches to developing their service delivery. This fresh approach includes SP. Dr Sam Everington, Chairman of Tower Hamlets CCG, has argued that GPs need assistance to manage their workload (Beavers, 2013:5) and believes that GPs should be offered more incentives to develop partnerships to make their services work more effectively. The Chair of the CGP recently argued that GPs need all providers of health and social care, within a geographically aligned area to come together and pool resources (Gerada, 2013, Accessed 8th October 2013). This includes making use of third sector organizations according to a retired GP from Bethnal Green Health Centre writing in the BMJ who argued it requires commissioners and GPs to undertake a:

a radical rethink on service provision, with perhaps less emphasis on classification and more on collaborative working practices (Hardy, 2013:347)

Part of this push to encourage primary care services to develop collaborative working is the realization that the burden of managing long-term conditions calls for a holistic approach.

There are 15 million people in the UK living with a long-term condition. Typically this can include people who are repeat attendees in surgeries for which SP is increasingly seen as a potential solution. Recent Kings Fund Caring Research has led to a call for GPs to be more proactive and preventive in their approach. Improving care for people with long-term conditions must involve a shift away from a reactive, disease-focused, fragmented model of care towards one that is more proactive, holistic and preventive, in which people with long-term conditions are encouraged to play a central role in managing their own care (Coulter, 2013:2).

The increasing burden on GP services is therefore making SP approaches potentially attractive to some GPs.

# Increasing burden of mental health

Mental illness is a growing problem in the developed world. In the US the Center for Disease Control and Prevention, report that 25% of people in the United States have a mental illness (Centre for Disease Control and Prevention, 2012). One in four people in the UK are also known to suffer a mental health problem in the course of a year. It is also acknowledged that within primary care around 30% of all consultations and 50% of consecutive attendances concern some form of psychiatric problem, predominantly depression or anxiety (Kessler et al, 2001; Scottish Executive, 2005).

The number of people with mental health problems subject to community treatment orders in England has also risen by almost a third in the year immediately following the 2010 recession according to the Care Quality Commission. Their second annual report on the use of the Mental Health Act in England, *Monitoring the Mental Health Act in 2010/11*, said the number of people subject to the act was 5% higher than in the previous year—rising from 19,947 on 31 March 2010 to 20,938 on 31 March 2011 (O'Dowd, 2011). Every year over 9,000 people in England and Wales who are held under the Mental Health Act are put in police cells despite codes of practice saying that this should occur only in exceptional circumstances. The police have powers under section 136 of the Mental Health Act 1983 to take individuals who are suffering from mental health issues in a public place to a 'place of safety' for their protection, and so they can be medically assessed (HM Inspectorates of Constabulary and Prisons, 2013).

Patients with multiple health problems are rapidly becoming the norm not the exception, and the NHS is not set up to treat them properly, according to a study carried out in Scotland. Examining a dataset of 314 medical practices representing 1.75 million patients, data on 40 morbidities (i.e. an incident of a disease), were extracted. Although multiple morbidities were recognised as being more common among older people, the team found that there were more in absolute terms in those under 65—210 500 versus 194 966 in

people over 65. By the age of 50, half the population had at least one morbidity and by 65 most had more than two. People living in deprived areas were more likely to experience multi-morbidity, even though the population of such areas was on average younger. Young and middle aged people in the most deprived areas had rates of multi-morbidity equivalent to those of people 10 to 15 years older in the most affluent areas. More than a third of those with multi-morbidity had a mental health problem, with women more likely than men to combine a mental and a physical health disorder (Hawkes, 2012a:345).

"The NHS has too many people addressing part of the problem" he said, "which is a recipe for fragmentation, poor coordination and inefficiency." What patients needed was a long term relationship with somebody they knew and trusted—"it could be a specialist, it could be a nurse, but most often it will be a GP."

There are also over 3 million adults of working age who are not in work and receiving incapacity benefits in the UK, and poor mental health was the most significant reason for their incapacity (ESN, 2011:25). According to the World Health Organization (WHO) by 2020 depression will be a leading cause of disability globally, second only to ischemic heart disease (Dewa and McDaid, 2011). Anti-depressant prescriptions in the UK are on the increase. 23 million prescriptions were issued last year. An increase of 40% over four years. Mental health problems can lead to or be a cause of other problems e.g. addiction, isolation, unemployment.

Patients presenting with complex mental health needs challenge traditional delivery in general practice:

They challenge the single disease framework by which most healthcare, medical research, and medical education is configured. Existing approaches need to be complemented by support for the work of generalists, mainly but not exclusively in primary care, providing continuity, coordination, and above all a personal approach for people with multi-morbidity. This approach is most needed in socioeconomically deprived areas, where multi-morbidity happens earlier, is more common, and frequently includes physical and mental health comorbidity. (Hawkes, 2012a:345)

The burden of mental health to society and the economy should not be underestimated. However the definition of what constitutes a mental illness is often one of opinion. These opinions are sometimes drawn from a small group of psychiatric experts who author the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM), used to categorise mental illness. The DSM mental health model, like a lot of approaches is a reductionist biological one: behaviours are sometimes explained as a *chemical imbalance* and therefore open to drug treatment. This leads to a constant redefining and developing of medical descriptions of behaviour to serve a drug industry, for which mental ill health is the *profit nirvana of life* (Spence, 2012:3135). Such pressures means that mental health is now high on the government's agenda. The *No Health without Mental Health*, document published by the Department of Health (2011) urged the development of a cross government approach to address the issue with a focus on outcomes for people with a mental illness as a way of developing and promoting solutions to reduce the burden. Although the picture varies across Europe, the emphasis in mental health services are now moving towards the development of a more person-centred approach, based on principles of SP (ESN, 2011:8).

## Costs of mental health

The cost of mental health problems to the economy in England have been estimated at £105 billion, and treatment costs are expected to double in the next 20 years. Mental health problems cost the UK government billions every year, and the costs are set to rise over the next 15 years. Depression and anxiety in England alone are predicted to cost £24.4 billion by 2026 (Knapp et al 2011). In 2011/12, NHS Bristol spent just over £50 million on mental health services for the city − the largest spend by the former Primary Care Trust on non-acute hospital services (NHS Bristol, 2012:4). The cost of cardio-vascular diseases in the EU was estimated in 2007 as €36 billion (Leal, 2006) this compares to the cost for depression alone of €136.3 billion (McDaid, 2005:5). It is estimated that the economic costs of mental health are €2000 per annum for each European household (ESN, 2011:8). Mental illness is one of the biggest causes of misery in our society. It imposes heavy costs on the economy. Some 2% of the UK's GDP; according to research conducted by Professor Layard (2005).

Over the last four decades of rising life expectancy, the proportion of men who are economically inactive owing to long term ill health in the UK workforce has risen sharply, from under 5% to over 15% at the beginning of the 21st century. What this means is that the working population in 2008 faced the latest recession from a very different starting point from that faced in 1980, when the male economic inactivity rate was around 6% Bartley (2012). Economic inactivity is the status of not looking for a job at all and is different from unemployment. People are unemployed if they have no job but are actively seeking work, and this is usually on record. The two should not be confused. There are several reasons for economic inactivity. For men, the most common reason is long term sickness.

For women, traditionally it has been caring for the home and family. As the economic inactivity rate has risen among men, the rate among women has fallen. Bartley's (2012) cross sectional study shows that around half of men with long term ill health in 2009 were economically inactive compared with less than 5% in 1973. When the economy began to improve the employment rate increased, even for those with long term illness, in the professional and managerial occupations; but in the less advantaged socioeconomic groups the employment rate did not increase and the rate of permanent sickness (rather than unemployment) remained high. It may be that the demands of work have changed over time in such a way that it is now harder for people with some non-life threatening conditions (such as depression, anxiety, or autism spectrum disorders) to find and keep work. In the UK between 1996 and 2006 the numbers claiming incapacity benefit for mental health problems rose from 26% to 43% of all claimants and poor mental health was a factor in 70% of all claimants' cases (DoH, 2011). According to the Centre for Mental Health in the UK, at any one time one worker in six will be experiencing depression, anxiety or problems relating to stress. The total cost to employers is estimated at nearly £26 billion each year. That is equivalent to £1,035 per year for every employee in the UK workforce (Sainsbury, 2007). Additionally, the annual health service cost of people who frequently attend a GP for medically unexplained symptoms amounted to £3.1 billion in 2008-09 (Bermingham et al. 2010).

Making changes to improve access to services could help to reduce stigma and improve identification and recognition, which may lead to early intervention and more appropriate treatments resulting in significant savings (NIHCE, 2011:5). Mental health promotion and prevention appear to be more cost-effective than tackling mental ill health after it has occurred (ESN, 2011:26). And Lord O'Donnell the chair of the ONS argues that health budgets should be reallocated to focus on mental rather than physical health: *if the United Kingdom is serious about enhancing wellbeing. Depression reduces life expectancy as much as smoking* (Hawkes 2012b). With an increase in the burden of mental health and a clear recognition that the costs of this burden are rising SP is seen as a potential preventative solution to promote wellbeing.

#### Modernising mental health services in Bristol

With the responsibility for the commissioning of healthcare services transferred to the Bristol Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) on 1 April 2013, issues raised by the city's modernising mental health agenda in the city posed fresh challenges and uncertainties. A decision to re-commission mental health services followed serious concern expressed by GPs and service users about existing mental health services over a number of years. Part of the process has subsequently seen the development of a new overarching model of care. This new model seeks to relocate services closer to individuals and the communities where they live. The suggested model proposed multiple access points in accessible and non-

stigmatising settings. This model was widely supported amongst the stakeholder groups that were consulted (2012b:15) and it will be introduced across the city in 2014.

As part of the modernisation of mental health services a Recovery Pathway was outlined (as opposed to a chaotic or crisis pathway) which will see the needs of individuals with on-going mental health needs supported. SP provision was seen as an additional feature of local recovery services. The new approach aspires to meet the needs of individuals facing mental health challenges. It will provide a recovery plan informed with input from the service user, their carer, the GP and supporting mental health specialists, social care and third sector agencies. SP is seen as part of this pathway (Bristol NHS, 2013:13). And identified as an intervention that can be an:

early intervention with an emphasis on promotion, prevention, early intervention, recovery/resilience and grassroots community provision (NHS Bristol, 2012:6)

# The Wellbeing Programme at Wellspring Healthy Living Centre

WHLC has been delivering its social prescribing WP for four years. The initiative has been funded by various sources but predominantly by the Henry Smith and Tudor Trust. WHLC uses their funding to cover the costs of the service delivery. The programme aims to support adults who live in the Barton Hill area of the Lawrence Hill ward. The ward itself remains one of the most deprived in Bristol. It is ranked has the 336th (out of 32,486 wards) most deprived ward in the country. It is in the lowest 1% on income and employment indices and in the lowest 7% on health indices (UK Local Area, 2014). Also in a recent assessment of Quality of Life data it was seen as the ward with the highest level of risk for mental health in a *Mental Health Needs Assessment for Adults* (Van De Venter, et al 2011:11). The risk indicators were based on analysis of employment, education and training, housing, access to fresh food, physical activity, long-term limiting illness, social networks and support, access to green space, crime and discrimination and harassment. The impact of this on the community is far-reaching, affecting every aspect of people's lives and limiting not only their life chances, but also those of family members.

Wellspring's SP WP is characterised by the following:

- 1. Holistic: person-centred and non-prescriptive with consideration of an individual's physical, mental and spiritual needs and wellbeing
- 2. Co-production: recognising and supporting clients to manage their own recovery. They are encouraged and to be active, not a passive recipient, in their recovery.
- 3. Key-worker model and goal setting: the client, together with their key worker, identifies and sets realistic goals. The worker then supports the client to achieve these goals.
- 4. The use of a range of therapeutic tools: cognitive behaviour therapy techniques, motivational interviewing, counselling skills, and brief intervention techniques for substance misuse
- 5. Addressing the wider, social determinants of health: referral to agencies that can address those issues that contribute to poor mental health, such as housing or debt.
- 6. Partnership working and embedded referral pathways: appointment slots are available with information and advice agencies, specifically for clients of Wellspring's SP programme. When a client discloses psychological or substance misuse issues that are outside the expertise and remit of Wellspring's SP programme, the worker will make a referral to an appropriate agency e.g. Kinergy, Womankind, Nilaari, Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership (AWP). If the client accesses these higher-tier interventions, but still needs support for wider, social issues, then Wellspring's SP programme can continue to engage with the client.

- 7. Asset-based approach: a) referral to activities and services, in the individual's local community, that support good mental health, e.g. peer-support groups, arts-based activities, physical activities, complementary therapies, volunteering, training and employment opportunities; b) facilitation and support for peer-support groups and activities based in the community e.g. Time Out Groups; c) Volunteer Befrienders who themselves have experienced poor mental health, but who are ready to support others in their recovery. Such support can include accompanying someone to an activity, shopping together or meeting for a cup of tea.
- 8. Based on Five Ways to Wellbeing: connect, be active, take notice, keep learning and give.

The WP service consists of two elements: Branching Out and Time Out. It is based on the principles of improving wellbeing and social wealth and is designed to hold hope and ambition for people, together with the expectation that their lives can improve.

Branching Out - 1:1 intervention: Based on the key-worker model to develop a strong, trusting and functioning relationship. Over an average of 9 weeks, clients, together with their support worker, set health and wellbeing goals in an action plan. Beneficiaries will then be supported to achieve these goals and to access activities and support in the community: for example Time Out (peer-support groups) and therapeutic activities, such as creative arts, physical activities, cooking courses or complementary therapies. Beneficiaries will be referred to the appropriate organisation for specialised or higher-tier mental health or substance misuse services, e.g. Womankind, Kinergy, Nilaari, or AWP. If wider determinants of health, such as housing, employment or debt present as hindrances to the wellbeing of the individual, then the Branching Out worker will support the individual to address these issues. If requested by the participant, the support worker will allocate a befriender to also support them to access activities or to meet for a cup of tea.

Time Out Group - Peer-support groups: The support worker facilitates weekly group gettogethers. This is an important strand of the project as it provides an opportunity for social contact and friendships to form, thereby enhancing the opportunity for mutual support and reducing social isolation. This helps build resilience, personal responsibility and social wealth back into the community. Each week the focus of the group will be an agreed-upon activity that supports mental wellbeing, e.g. crafts and arts, relaxation techniques, healthy eating and cooking, gift making, a physical activity or bingo.

Engagement with the project is not compulsory. We do not know how many Beneficiaries are necessarily referred by a GP and then subsequently fail to take-up the offer. We do

know from other research on a SP project that roughly 64% attend a SP project more than once (e.g. 64% see Freidli, 2012:17).

WHLC have been active in trying to develop a mechanism to assess the value of their work and in particular the impact of their WP. As a third sector organization they exist for *social purposes to meet a broad range of social needs which would otherwise go unmet* (South West Observatory, 2008). It is widely recognised that as well as meeting social needs the third sector are part a fundamental part of the economy and represent a growing business sector. As with private businesses, they contribute to the local and regional economy by generating income, attracting investment, maintaining and creating jobs and spending money on goods and services. Heady and Copps (2008) at a Researching the Voluntary Sector Conference called *Measuring effectiveness – the way forward* provide good reasons why charities and other third sector organisations like WHLC should focus more on the impact of the their work:

charities rarely measure the social impact of their work. But without data on their impact, charities miss the opportunity to improve their services, and with it, the lives of the people they help.

With this research WHLC looked to extend their evidence base of impact and *Prove their Value*.

# The methodology

WHLC and the researchers spent considerable time looking at different ways to measure the impact of the WP on beneficiaries' lives. Our preliminary scoping study led us to discuss the feasibility of undertaking a RCT study involving two surgeries in the local area. Clearly one of the surgeries would act as a comparative control group to WHLC. However this was ruled out primarily because the funding available from the SWF was insufficient to support such an approach. We estimated that such a study would have required three times the budget on offer. We also felt a study based around GP practices and an RCT approach would run the risk of sample contamination (See Middleton et al, 2003). We therefore opted to undertake a mixed methods approach. This involved focus groups and 1 to 1 in-depth semi-structured interviews with stakeholders and old beneficiaries to develop an appropriate tool to use with a cohort of new beneficiaries in a longitudinal study over 12 months.

## **Ethics**

We applied to the NHS Research Ethics Committee (NRES) for ethical approval in July 2011. Based on the information we provided, NRES decided that the project was not considered to be health research based on the protocol we sent. It was perceived to be a service evaluation and therefore did not require ethical review by NRES. Ethical approval was subsequently applied for and given by UWE's Health and Life Sciences Faculty Research Ethics Sub-Committee in October 2011.

Participants in this research were invited to participate and were not obliged to participate. Everyone had the right to refuse participation. Every participant was asked to provide written informed consent prior to commencement of any research activity. This applied to old and new beneficiaries of the service and stakeholders. The Information and Consent Forms were agreed with WHLC. Additionally new beneficiaries if they were registered with a GP at WHLC were asked to provide written consent for the researchers to collect their GP and prescription data (see Appendix 1). These were to be released to the researchers 12 months after their referral and would include their attendance and prescription records twelve months before and after their referral to the WP programme. All data provided would be anonymised using a pre-existing beneficiary id number used and developed for the purpose of our South West Wellbeing (Jones and Kimberlee, 2009) evaluation (ethics approval for database set up for the SWWB evaluation: Well-being in the South West: A Healthier Way to Live, HSC-07-072; project code: P36E356R). This database has previously supplied us with anonymised data for service evaluation purposes. Procedures were agreed with the Strategic Business Manager at Wellspring General Practice Services at WHLC. Participants were free to withdraw from any aspect of the research at any stage. This was confirmed on the information sheet and reiterated by the researchers and the Wellbeing workers on every research occasion.

#### Aim

The aim of the research was to assess the impact of the WP delivered at WHLC in Bristol. The WP is defined as a holistic social prescribing programme. As part of the *Proving Our Value* portfolio we sought to take a pragmatic approach in the development of indicators for appraising the economic impact of third sector organizations and their activities. We concentrated on the specific use of the service. The focus on social purpose gives a particular direction to our study, notably the focus on recording social and economic outcomes rather than the means by which these outcomes were achieved. We opted for a SROI approach right from the start in the knowledge that this was an effective way of recording value for third sector organizations (Cabinet Office 2009). Carrying out an SROI analysis consists of a number of stages. The first two stages involve establishing the scope of the research and identifying key stakeholders to be involved and mapping acknowledged outcomes through an impact map.

# Establishing scope and identifying key stakeholders

Guidance on conducting SROI puts great emphasis on stakeholders' involvement than do standard cost benefit analyses (Arvidson, 2010:6). This enables researchers to be able to more effectively map outcomes. Following consultation with the WHLC Management Board which includes former WP users; the CEO at WHLC was asked to identify and develop a list of local stakeholders to the WP and a list of old beneficiaries to enable us to develop an impact map of the outcomes stemming from the intervention. The interview schedule used with the stakeholders is outlined in Appendix 2. The interview was devised to provide the research with a qualitative insight into the impact of the WP. It assisted us in identifying the desired wellbeing and economic outcomes that were perceived to be achieved by the programme; as well as potential deadweight and attribution indicators (please see Glossary on p113). Overall 20 stakeholders participated in 1 to 1, in-depth, semi-structured interviews. This included:

- three members of staff at WHLC,
- three referring GPs,
- a referring District Nurse,
- a funder of the intervention,
- a community service manager,
- two GP practice managers,
- two social workers,
- three mental health workers,
- four city council officials.

Previous WP beneficiaries were also invited to voluntarily attend focus groups via an agreed letter distributed by the WHLC to old beneficiaries who had already completed the BO component of the programme and were either participating in a Time-Out group or in full recovery. The researchers constructed an invitation letter. This was distributed and returned to WHLC who organised the timing of the focus groups to suit the beneficiaries. Adopting this approach ensured that the names and addresses of old beneficiaries remained unknown to the researchers. Thus, ensuring anonymity and confidentiality as agreed in our ethics application. Participation was voluntary. We undertook three focus groups with between 6-9 beneficiaries/group. There was an all-male group, a female group and a mixed group. 24 old beneficiaries participated in total. The nature of the WP, the duty of care of the WHLC and the long term relationship developed with beneficiaries ensured that extra care was taken to ensure that participants thoroughly understood the aims of the project and the importance of anonymity. All beneficiaries were given a consent form to sign. All data opt out options were explained. Beneficiaries were told that they were free to withdraw at any stage.

## *Mapping outcomes*

Engagement with stakeholders and old beneficiaries was crucial to ensuring that we understood what the key outcomes were of the WP. There was a broad consensus that the WP helped to reduce GP surgery attendance. This was because the programme helped to address and improve mental health. As a result of their engagement with the WP, beneficiaries were perceived to have primarily reduced their levels of:

- Depression
- Anxiety

GPs were also likely to highlight that WP was also good when working with patients presenting with somatoform symptoms.

I think it is most effective with patients who present with physical (e.g. pain) problems and other issues for which there is no obvious medical cause rather than those with alcohol dependency or drug dependency. (GP stakeholder)

Other outcomes highlighted by both stakeholders and old beneficiaries as stemming from the WP intervention were:

- Reduced isolation
- Anger Management
- Increased Physical Activity
- Advice Information and Guidance
- Improved employment/volunteering opportunities
- Listened too
- Safe space
- Suicide prevention
- Reduction in alcohol and drug consumption
- Bereavement
- Avoid downward spiral to moderate severe and severe depression
- Less of a burden on family and carers
- Increased confidence

There were some differences. Interestingly the stakeholders were more likely to suggest that the programme would help with broader community development issues:

- Promoting Resilience
- Developing social capital
- Community capital

The old beneficiaries in the focus groups were less likely to suggest these broader community outcomes as being achieved as a consequence of their experience on the WP.

# Evidencing outcomes to giving them a value

Although we had sufficient evidence for a SROI analysis from both stakeholders and old beneficiaries on the efficacy of the programme we were tasked with the responsibility of developing a tool to assess these benefits to help other third sector organizations *prove their value*. In deciding to develop a tool we had to think about the policy context in which organizations like WHLC operate and anticipate what type of evidence commissioners might require.

The Darzi Review (2008) *Our NHS, Our Future* had outlined the importance of getting local service users and carers to have their say over mental health services. Importantly the review argued that change should be clinically driven to meet local need. If this is the case it

would be important for the tool to include validated robust items that could assist clinicians and commissioners to understand the impact of the WP. Mental health services in the city were under review (Bristol Clinical Commissioning Group, 2013) and were very likely to be reconfigured by the time the research was complete. If this was the case then third sector organizations would need to *prove their value* by providing outcome evidence to suit commissioner needs. The modernising mental health reforms meant an introduction of a consistent methodology for the contracting and payment of mental health services and for benchmarking and tracking impact needed to be in place. SP projects like WHLC WP and those of other providers were going to have to demonstrate the type of beneficiary they were working with in terms of the new Payment by Results (PbR) clusters underpinning the new commissioning ethos (McKee, 2011). The objective of these reforms was to have currencies and local prices established and for such services during 2012-13. The local prices would be agreed by commissioners and providers. Thus this evaluation had to make sure that the tool would provide users with evidence to support their engagement with beneficiaries in the targeted clusters if they were going to get their service commissioned.

There were also broader changes occurring in the NHS. The Health and Social Care (2012) introduced by the Coalition Government had made it clear that judging care by outcomes is one of its top priorities for the NHS. The original White Paper (2011): *Equity and Excellence: Liberating the NHS*, set out an Outcomes Framework by which performance could be managed. The reforms had promised opportunities for *Any Qualified Provider* to be given chance to commissioned to deliver NHS care. This meant that the tool required validated measures to evidence base impact against both the outcomes framework and the mental health clusters.

However, the tool not only had to deliver evidence that would be acceptable to potential commissioners it also had to be suitable to be used with beneficiaries who were already vulnerable. It could not be too onerous. It had to be fairly brief to sit alongside potential care plans negotiated with beneficiaries and it also had to have the potential to be used as a tool with beneficiaries to their measure progress during their 1 to 1 sessions with the SP health worker who would administer the tool.

WHLC had recently decided to use PHQ9 and GAD7 tools to assess depression and anxiety so it was important to continue using these items as they seek to assess and identify the key issues highlighted by the old beneficiaries and stakeholders. Both are seen as popular validated tools to use in primary care settings for assessing depression and anxiety (Spritzer et al, 2006). And both would provide evidence for commissioners in terms of mental health clusters and so were included in the Wellspring Wellbeing Questionnaire (WWQ).

Many of the other outcomes identified by the stakeholders and old beneficiaries were pointing towards beneficiaries' improvement in wellbeing. But wellbeing is a complicated

concept and frequently used interchangeably with the term *quality of life*. Cronin de Chavex et al (2005) stress both terms lack a clear conceptual base with little consensus across disciplines as to how to identify wellbeing or measure it. The Stiglitz Report (Stiglitz et al., 2009) surveyed a range of academic research and initiatives developed throughout world and recommended the following dimensions of wellbeing: Material living standards (income, consumption and wealth), Health, Education, Personal activities including work, Political voice and governance, Social connections and relationships, Environment (present and future conditions) and Insecurity, of an economic as well as a physical nature. This highlights the broad factors that can impact on individual's sense of subjective wellbeing. The New Economics Foundation (nef) have also highlighted a dynamic model of wellbeing which clarifies the relationship between functioning and hedonic approaches to wellbeing by showing how having good overall feelings (and a positive evaluation of those feelings) is dependent on functioning well, and on having the external and internal resources to do so (Michaelson, 2012).

The most widely used measure of mental wellbeing in the UK is the Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (SWEMWBS) which is increasingly used in evaluations to measure beneficiary well-being (See e.g. Jones and Kimberlee, 2009). However, as yet there is not an established time series of SWEMWBS scores at present to develop a national understanding of a population's wellbeing (DoH, 2013:3). Secondly, we considered that it is perhaps inappropriate to use SWEMWBS on a holistic SP intervention evaluation because on presentation the potential beneficiary would not necessarily have been diagnosed as having a mental illness but would instead be perceived to have been displaying behaviour which was inimical to their wellbeing. And thirdly, the PHQ9 and GAD7 would be more effective in assessing a beneficiary's level of depression and anxiety.

However, when we were developing our tool the ONS was asked by Prime Minister David Cameron (2010) to develop a tool to measure happiness. This was done as part of the ONS's Measuring National Well-being Programme. There are now four questions used in the ONS's Well-being Index which are now going to be answered annually by 200,000 people in the government's Integrated Household Survey (IHS). As such it is four questions validated against the general population. The four questions are seen as a way of assessing the subjective well-being of individuals, by measuring what people think and feel about their own lives (Self et al, 2012:31). It is one of three wellbeing measures recommended by nef (Michaelson, 2012:11). And as such it is also useful in that it will allow users to compare their beneficiary scores with demographic and local authority scores to once again demonstrate the profile of their beneficiaries compared to a large national dataset. This is useful for third sector organizations when presenting evidence to local commissioners.

We also felt that it was important to capture the extent to which WP addressed two additional outcomes identified in the old beneficiary and stakeholder focus groups and

interviews which may not be easily encapsulated by the ONS questions. Namely: loneliness and physical activity.

The literature on social isolation shows that it is often the self-assessed feelings of being isolated that are more important for our health and wellbeing than the number of social contacts (Hawthorne, 2000). In the 1960s and 1970s, research by Townsend revealed that there were two different, but related aspects of loneliness: perceived social isolation and perceived emotional loneliness. These two dimensions of social isolation have been widely confirmed by other researchers (Hawthorne, 2000). And as such both are addressed by the Friendship Scale; which we included in our tool.

In terms of assessing physical health we have used the validated International Physical Activity Questionnaires (IPAQ) before (Jones and Kimberlee, 2009). The purpose of the IPAQ is to provide a set of well-developed instruments that can be used internationally to obtain comparable estimates of physical activity (IPAQ, 2013: Accessed 20<sup>th</sup> November 2013). This item was also important because in asking on how many days a week the beneficiary undertook to do moderate exercise (e.g. brisk walking, gardening, housework like cleaning) for 30 minutes or more users of the tool will be able to directly assess beneficiary performance against a key NHS target of 5 x 30 minutes a day of moderate exercise a week.

Our interviews and focus groups with old beneficiaries and stakeholders highlighted differences in terms of perceived outcomes. Stakeholders were more likely to suggest that the programme helped with broader community development issues in terms of promoting resilience and developing social and community capital. Old beneficiaries were less likely too. Given that there was less of a consensus here we had less of a focus on these issues but still felt it important to include items that could address these issues. We were mindful of the need to keep the WWQ as short as possible because of the vulnerability of the beneficiaries particularly at baseline. But we included two items from the IHS that asks about an individual's perception about their local neighbourhood in terms of whether they think it is a good place to live and whether they were satisfied.

Finally, as personal wellbeing is associated with income we decided to ask a question about personal finances. So we included an item in the WWQ on the subjective assessment of a beneficiary's personal finances that has been previously included in the UK's Family Expenditure Survey in the past and has been recommended as a good item to use particularly in areas of deprivation (McKay et al, 2003:11).

All of these items were included in the WWQ which new beneficiaries were asked to complete at baseline and at the end of the BO programme 3 months later. Additionally, when beneficiaries enter the WP they also completed the WHLC Registration Form (Appendix 3). This is compulsory for all beneficiaries and users of WHLC services. The form requests consent for release of anonymised information for evaluation purposes. This form generates a unique personal identifier. The identifier was used on the WWQ tool and also

given to Wellspring GP surgery for collection of the GP data noted above. The data from the registration form and the wellbeing tool was stored on the WHLC database. Access to the data on the database was password protected. Only the wellbeing workers and the CEO at WHLC had access to the data on the database. However they were able to provide the researchers with anonymised excel reports of beneficiary progress.

At three months following beneficiary enrolment on the WP in addition to completing the WWQ tool again beneficiaries were invited to come to a 1 to 1, in-depth, semi-structured interview with either a male or female researcher in a private room independently booked by the researchers at WHLC. We had funding to conduct 40 beneficiaries, almost a third (31%) of the cohort. In the interviews we were able to look at their experiences of the programme and explore areas of impact not necessarily covered by the WWQ. The interview schedule can be found in Appendix 4. The final version of the WWQ tool in Appendix 5.

Table 1: Old beneficiary and stakeholder identified outcomes and their coverage in primary research methods with new beneficiaries

| Outcome  | Covered                                    |
|--|--|
| Depression   | WWQ  |
| Anxiety  | WWQ  |
| Reduced isolation  | WWQ  |
| Anger Management   | 1 to 1 in-depth semi-structured interviews |
| Increased Physical Activity                                    | WWQ  |
| Advice Information and Guidance                                | Outcomes recorded on database              |
| Improved employment/volunteering opportunities                 | Outcomes recorded on database              |
| Listened too   | Outcomes recorded on database              |
| Safe space   | 1 to 1 in-depth semi-structured interviews |
| Suicide prevention   | 1 to 1 in-depth semi-structured interviews |
| Reduction in alcohol and drug consumption                      | 1 to 1 in-depth semi-structured interviews |
| Bereavement  | 1 to 1 in-depth semi-structured interviews |
| Avoid downward spiral to moderate severe and severe depression | WWQ  |

| Less of a burden on family and carers | 1 to 1 in-depth semi-structured interviews |
|---------------------------------------|--|
| Increased confidence                  | 1 to 1 in-depth semi-structured interviews |
| Promoting Resilience                  | 1 to 1 in-depth semi-structured interviews |
| Developing social capital             | WWQ  |
| Community capital                     | WWQ  |
| Reduced isolation                     | WWQ  |

# **Evidence of impact of the Wellbeing Programme**

The WHLC Wellbeing database shows that there were 128 beneficiaries who participated on the BO programme for the year running from May 2012 to April 2013. This is the year of our analysis. Beneficiaries come on to the programme at different points; as and when they are referred. All WHLC beneficiaries are asked to complete a Registration form (See Appendix 3). On this form they are asked to give their consent to share anonymised responses for evaluation purposes. These details are recorded anonymously against a Personal Identification Number (PIN).

It is from this database that we get a sense of the demographic profile of people who present. The median age of beneficiaries was between 36-40 years of age. There were 12.5% (n=16) aged over 55. But most were of working age. 51.2% (n=66) were male. 83% (n=103) defined themselves as white. 11.3% (n=14) were black or black British. 3.2% (n=4) were Asian or Asian British and 2.4% (n=3) mixed. 33.6% (n=43) were in receipt of some disability benefit. 91% (n=115) said their first language was English. Other first languages included: French, Polish, Somali, Arabic, Mandinka and Portuguese.

In terms of their accommodation 37.7% (n=43) lived in either council owned or housing association property; 32.5% (n=37) were living in private rented accommodation and 23.7% (n=27) owned their own home. 6.1% (n=7) described themselves as either homeless or living with friends. The majority of the beneficiaries lived alone (37.9%, n=44). Very few were in traditional familial households which included a partner and children (22.4%, n=26). 12.9%, (n=15) lived as a single parent and 14.7% ( n=17) lived solely with a partner. 41.6% (n=47) said they were in full time work. 40% (n=45) were looking for work. The rest were either long-term sick, retired or in full time-education or training. 98% (n=112) were referred to the project by their GP from 5 different GP practices in Bristol.

From the database we can also learn a little about the client attendance on BO. Figure 1 below summarises the number of participants involved in each part of the study.

Figure 1: Outline of sampling of New Beneficiaries for the Wellbeing Programme

128 Beneficiaries on the database completed Registration form. 128 Beneficiaries completed, WWQ at baseline. 70 Beneficiaries completed, WWQ at 3 months follow-up 1 to 1 in-depth semistructured interviews with 40 beneficiaries at three months.

GP attendance data from one GP surgery for 40 beneficiaries. 12 months before and after baseline 80 Beneficiaries outcome data from database assessed at 12 months

Below we look at the data collected through the WWQ tool. In order to undertake a statistical analysis of the data collected scores have been aggregated to enable us to look at the distance travelled by the beneficiaries on the programme. With more resources we would have been able to undertake a case by case analysis but that wasn't feasible within the timescales set for reporting. It reports on baseline and three month follow-up scores but we also provide quotes from the in-depth semi-structured interviews we conducted.

128 beneficiaries completed the WWQ at baseline and 70 completed the tool at follow-up three months later when their time on BO had finished. The disparity between 128 and 70 reflects beneficiary flow. There were still beneficiaries on the BO programme at the time when we were contractually obliged to look at the data in order to meet *Proving Our Value* report schedules.

Table 2: Baseline and three months later scores on the PHQ9 scale for depression

|          | None   | Mild       | Moderate   | Moderately | Severe     | Mean  | Range |
|----------|--------|------------|------------|------------|------------|-------|-------|
|          | (0-4)  | Depression | Depression | Severe     | Depression |       |       |
|          |        | (5-9)      | (10-14)    | Depression | (20-27)    |       |       |
|          |        |            |            | (15-19)    |            |       |       |
|          |        |            |            |            |            |       |       |
| Baseline | 3%     | 9%         | 12%        | 25%        | 52%        | 18.54 | 27    |
| (n=128)  | (n=4)  | (n=11)     | (n=15)     | (n=32)     | (n=66)     |       |       |
|          |        |            |            |            |            |       |       |
| Interim  | 32%    | 26%        | 29%        | 8%         | 6%         | 4.61  | 27    |
| (n=70)   | (n=21) | (n=18)     | (n=20)     | (n=6)      | (n=5)      |       |       |
|          |        |            |            |            |            |       |       |

A paired samples t-test was conducted to evaluate the impact of the intervention on beneficiary scores on the PHQ-9 scale. There was a statistically significant decrease in PHQ-9 depression scores from baseline (M=18.38, SD=6.42) to three months after (M=8.43, SD=6.33), t (69) = 11.39, p= < 0.001. The mean decrease in PHQ-9 depression scores was 9.95 with a 95% confidence interval ranging from 8.208 to 11.692. The eta squared statistic (0.65) indicates a large effect.

There is clear improvement in beneficiary scores on depression. As a project the intervention seeks to promote beneficiary wellbeing needs in reality it works with people with quite severe mental health problems. It is clear at baseline that over half the beneficiaries could be diagnosed as having severe depression. The target beneficiary group for the programme was actually people with mild to moderate depression but the beneficiaries who are referred to BO by GPs are actually people with moderately severe to

severe levels of depression. Most beneficiaries of SP may not have had a mental health diagnosis.

She (her GP) was going to refer me to a psychiatrist but it was going to take a long time to be honest so she said she would refer me to Wellspring. She said it could take weeks, maybe months to see a psychiatrist and even then it might not help me but that this women's worker might, it might help with my isolation and depression (Beneficiary N20).

Table 3: Baseline and three months later scores on the GAD7 for anxiety

|          | None   | Mild    | Moderate | Severe  | Mean   | Range |
|----------|--------|---------|----------|---------|--------|-------|
|          | (0-4)  | Anxiety | Anxiety  | Anxiety |        |       |
|          |        | (5-9)   | (10-14)  | (15+)   |        |       |
| Baseline | 2%     | 8%      | 30%      | 59%     | 15.41% | 21    |
| (n=128)  | (n=3)  | (n=13)  | (n=38)   | (n=74)  |        |       |
| Interim  | 36%    | 31%     | 23%      | 10%     | 7.21%  | 21    |
| (n=70)   | (n=25) | (n=22)  | (n=16)   | (n=7)   |        |       |

A paired samples t-test was conducted to evaluate the impact of the intervention on beneficiary scores on the GAD-7 scale. There was a statistically significant decrease in GAD-7 Anxiety scores from baseline (M=15.39, SD=4.67) to three months after (M=7.21, SD=5.34), t (69) = 12.83, p = < 0.001. The mean decrease in GAD-7 Anxiety scores was 8.81 with a 95% confidence interval ranging from 6.901 to 9.442. The eta squared statistic (0.70) indicates a large effect.

These scores once again reveal the severity of mental health issues faced by WHLC's SP beneficiaries. Almost 60% of those referred present with high levels of anxiety. At the end of BO over 60% have either mild or no anxiety.

One of the key issues faced by beneficiaries is social isolation. The registration forms reveal that 40% (n=44) live alone. We know from the one to one in-depth semi-structured interviews that beneficiaries have often been through considerable stress and dramatic life changes that could have left them bereft and alone.

......with me it was breakdown of a relationship, it got out of control, I was alone and about to be made homeless.....and then obviously ended up going out on sick leave from my full time job. And after the breakdown of my relationship,

down the line, I ended up resigning from a nice job in [deleted]. I got myself back into a safe environment through the help of \*\*\*\* and all the support from the guys down here. I am back in a safe environment now. I now live day to day, back in a happy place, got a part time job, so er, things are looking up. (Beneficiary O5)

It was like a spiritual thing that we did...which makes you think. It made more aware of the stressful situation that was on me and how to deal with it. Before I wouldn't have been able to deal with it. I would have just blown my top and deal with the consequences after it. It made me think more. Like instead of just sitting down and talking to a counsellor. You know you might as well talk to a hat and coat stand really......do you know what I mean....I unloaded my loneliness and anger on \*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*. (Beneficiary N16)

Table 4: Baseline and three months later scores on the Friendship scale

|            | Very     | Socially | Some      | Socially  | Very      |
|------------|----------|----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
|            | Isolated | Isolated | Isolation | Connected | Connected |
| Baseline   | 67.8%    | 17.3%    | 12.6%     | 1.1%      | 1.1%      |
| (n=87)     | (n=59)   | (n=15)   | (n=11)    | (n=1)     | (n=1)     |
| Interim    | 35.4%    | 33.4%    | 18.7%     | 12.7%     | 0%        |
| (n=48)     | (n=17)   | (n=15)   | (n=9)     | (n=6)     | (n=0)     |
| All Adults | 2%       | 5%       | 9%        | 25%       | 59%       |
| UK*        |          |          |           |           |           |

\* See Hawthorne et al (2000)

A paired samples t-test was conducted to evaluate the impact of the intervention on beneficiary scores on the Friendship Scale. There was a statistically significant increase in connectedness in the Friendship Scale scores from baseline (M=8.63, SD=6.01) to three months after (M=13.17, SD=4.28), t (69) = 5.62, p= < 0.001. The mean increase in the Friendship Scale scores was 4.54 with a 95% confidence interval ranging from 6.155 to 2.908. The eta squared statistic (0.4) indicates a large effect.

What the table shows is that people's sense of isolation has got less but there is still a considerable number of people who still feel very isolated at the end of the BO programmes, with 1 in 10 now saying they feel socially connected.

Looking at the Well-being measures we can see improvement on all four ONS indicators of wellbeing. There are improvements in beneficiaries' satisfaction with life, their happiness and an improvement in their belief that life is more worthwhile than it was at baseline. The

improvement on the how anxious item verifies the earlier gains demonstrated on the GAD7 indicator.

Table 5: Baseline and three months later scores on the ONS Well-being indicators scale

| ONS<br>Wellbeing<br>Indicator  | Baseline<br>(n=87) | Interim<br>(n=48) | UK Adult<br>average<br>(ONS, 2012) | South West<br>Region<br>(ONS, 2012) | Bristol<br>Region<br>(ONS, 2012) |
|--|--------------------|-------------------|------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Overall, how satisfied are you with your life nowadays?                            | 2.63               | 5.58              | 7.4                                | 7.52                                | 7.3                              |
| Overall, how happy did you feel yesterday?   | 3.26               | 6.06              | 7.3                                | 7.28                                | 7.18                             |
| Overall, how anxious did you feel yesterday?                                       | 6.0                | 3.56              | 2.9                                | 2.99                                | 3.21                             |
| Overall, to what extent do you feel the things you do in your life are worthwhile? | 3.8                | 6.02              | 7.6                                | 7.77                                | 7.47                             |

Again these improvements were significant. The table below provides the t-scores and eta effect values. Interestingly, beneficiaries make between 2 and 3 point improvement on the ONS wellbeing indicators. Although looking at the table above their scores are still below the regional and local authority levels.

Table 7: Baseline and three months later T-values for the ONS Well-being indicator scale scores

| ONS Wellbeing<br>Indicator (n=48)          | Mean<br>difference | T scores | Significance | Eta Values   |
|--|--------------------|----------|--------------|--------------|
| Overall, how                               | -2.872             | -7.880   | P=<0.001     | 0.60         |
| satisfied are you with your life nowadays? |                    |          |              | Large effect |
| Overall, how                               | -2.851             | -8.630   | P= <0.001    | 0.65         |
| happy did you feel yesterday?              |                    |          |              | Large effect |
| Overall, how                               | 2.894              | 6.757    | P= <0.001    | 0.58         |
| anxious did you feel yesterday?            |                    |          |              | Large effect |
| Overall, to what                           | 2.255              | -4.822   | P= <0.05     | 0.37         |
| extent do you feel the things you do       |                    |          |              | Large effect |
| in your life are worthwhile?               |                    |          |              |              |

This greater sense of well-being is a theme that consistently came out of the one to one, semi-structured interviews:

It's been absolutely brilliant. I have never felt better. It's really sorted out my mind. I have got a totally different outlook. Positive thinking. I have a real positive consistent outlook on life.....It feels like a miracle to me it really does. (Beneficiary N15)

I used wait for the doctor in the morning after work. I would sit in the car park until it was time. He sort of gave me a sort yourself out type of chat. I am not very good at taking pills but they really helped. They took the edge of things. It was like the security blanket, but I would also see \*\*\*\* and he turned me around. (Beneficiary N14)

Another reported outcome of the BO programme is that beneficiaries now report increased physical activity rates. There has been considerable discussion as to whether addressing mental health can improve physical activity. And there is evidence to suggest that walking, and physical activity more generally, can be an effective way to enhance positive moods.

People with high levels of regular physical activity have been shown to have higher levels of positive emotions such as interest, excitement, enthusiasm and alertness compared to people with moderate and low levels of physical activity (Pasco et al, 2011).

What the WWQ tool reveals is an increase in beneficiaries' rates of physical activity. The Department of Health recommend at least 150 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic activity such as cycling or fast walking every week (NHS Choices, 2013, Accessed  $11^{th}$  November 2013). The table below looks at physical activity rates of beneficiaries. It shows that only 17% of beneficiaries were meeting government guidelines of 5 x 30 minutes of moderate intensity activity at baseline. After three months this had almost doubled to 31%

Table 8: Baseline and three months IPAQ measures for physical activity.

|           | No days of physical activities (moderate intensity) | 5 + days of physical<br>activities (moderate<br>intensity) | Mean day<br>score |
|-----------|---|--|-------------------|
| Baseline  | 4.6%  | 17.2%  | 3.06              |
| (n=87)    | (n=4)   | (n=28)   |                   |
| Follow up | 2.1%  | 31.2%  | 4.10              |
| (n=48)    | (n=1)   | (n=25)   |                   |

The table below also shows there has also been a slight, although non-significant increase in the number of people who are doing vigorous activity as well.

Table 9: Baseline and three months IPAQ measures for physical activity.

| During the last<br>7 days, on how<br>many days did  | Baseline<br>Mean day score<br>(n=87) | Follow-up<br>Mean day score<br>(n=48) | Eta score and<br>effect | t-value<br>Significance            |
|---|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-------------------------|------------------------------------|
| you: Walk for at least 10 minutes at a time?  | 4.14                                 | 4.71                                  | Eta= 0.16  Large effect | t=3.02<br>Significant<br>p= <0.004 |
| Do moderate exercise (e.g. brisk walking, gardening, housework like cleaning) for 30 minutes or more: | 3.06                                 | 4.10                                  | Eta =0.4  Large effect  | t=5.62<br>Significant<br>p= 0.001  |
| Do vigorous physical activities like heavy lifting, digging, aerobics, or fast bicycling?             | 1.23                                 | 1.56                                  |                         | Not significant<br>p=0.127         |

As previously noted we obtained permission from beneficiaries to look at their GP attendance and prescription data. There were five local GP surgeries referring to the WP. We were able to negotiate with the WHLC surgery a process of releasing anonymised data using the beneficiary PIN. This took a lot work for the surgery's GP Strategic Business Manager. Of the 128 beneficiaries on the data base 48 beneficiaries were registered at WHLC. This is 75% of all BO beneficiaries who are known to have been referred from a WHLC GP. Of these 40 beneficiaries had records 12 months prior to joining the BO programme and 12 months after. Looking at telephone contact 50% (n=20) had fewer telephone contacts in the 12 months after commencing the BO programme, 25% (n=10) had the same amount and 25% (n=10) had more telephone contacts.

Table 10: Beneficiary telephone contact with GPs at Wellspring Surgery 12 months before and after commencing Branching Out

| N=40  | Mean contact<br>/patient | Mean contact/patient (excluding 2 outliers) | Median contact<br>/patient | Range |
|---|--------------------------|---|----------------------------|-------|
| Number of GP<br>contacts<br>12 months<br>before BO<br>enrolment | 2.48                     | 2.55  | 2                          | 1-10  |
| Number of GP<br>contacts 12<br>months after BO<br>enrolment.    | 2.7                      | 2.0   | 1                          | 1-16  |

The mean values in the table above suggest that there were actually more telephone contacts overall from these beneficiaries in the 12 months after the intervention than in the 12 months before. The range scores show that some beneficiaries had 10 telephone calls prior to joining the BO programme but up to 16 in the 12 months after the programme. A closer examination of the data reveals that 2 of the 10 beneficiaries who had more telephone calls after commencing the BO programme made 16 calls each. Between them they accounted for almost a third of all calls from the 40 beneficiaries in the 12 months after commencing the BO programme. If we exclude these two then there is a marked difference in the mean scores. Examination of the PHQ9 scores and GAD7 scores suggest that they had made little improvement on the WP.

Table 11: Beneficiary face-to- face contact with GPs at Wellspring Surgery 12 months before and after commencing Branching Out

| N=37        | Mean     | Median   | Range | Mean            |
|-------------|----------|----------|-------|-----------------|
|             | contact  | contact  |       | contact/patient |
|             | /patient | /patient |       | (excluding 2    |
|             |          |          |       | outliers)       |
| Number of   | 4.61     | 3.51     | 1-13  | 4.4             |
| GP contacts |          |          |       |                 |
| 12 months   |          |          |       |                 |
| before BO   |          |          |       |                 |
| enrolment   |          |          |       |                 |
| Number of   | 4.51     | 3.0      | 1-18  | 3.71            |
| GP contacts |          |          |       |                 |
| 12 months   |          |          |       |                 |
| after BO    |          |          |       |                 |
| enrolment.  |          |          |       |                 |

The mean values in the table above suggest that there were slightly fewer face-to-face contacts overall from these beneficiaries in the 12 months after than the 12 months before. The range scores show that some beneficiaries had 13 face-to-face contacts prior to joining the BO programme but up to 18 in the 12 months after the programme. A closer examination of the data again reveals that 2 of the 10 beneficiaries who had more face-to-face contacts after commencing the BO programme had 17 and 18 face-to-face contact with their GP each. Between them they accounted for 15% of all the face to face contacts from the 37 beneficiaries in the 12 months after commencing the BO programme. If we exclude these two then there is a marked difference in the mean scores.

We know that the number of consultations for a typical practice in England rose from 21,100 in 1995 to 34,200 in 2008. The average patient had 3.9 consultations each year in 1995 rising to 5.5 consultations each year by 2008. Of these 82% of GP consultations were conducted in surgery premises, 12% were on the telephone, 4% were home visits and 3% were conducted at other locations (Hippisley-Cox et al, 2009:4-7). Looking at the BO patients attendance records it is clear that prior to coming on the BO programme almost a third (50%, n=17) of the patients whose records we looked at were having above national average GP consultations.

Table 12: Summary of face to face attendance and telephone calls to WHLC.

| Number of consultations After 12 months; excluding the two high users. | Face to Face<br>(n=37) | Telephone<br>(n=40) |
|--|------------------------|---------------------|
| Fewer  | 60%                    | 50%                 |
| The Same   | 26%                    | 24%                 |
| More   | 14%                    | 26%                 |

The table above confirms the views of stakeholders and the old beneficiaries interviewed at the start of the research and those also interviewed as part of a scoping exercise to understand what is meant by SP (Kimberlee, 2013) that beneficiaries of SP projects are consulting their GPs less.

At the time of reporting we were still awaiting clarification on prescription data from the WHLC database. So direct evidence of a reduction in anti-depressants cannot be immediately verified. However 6 new beneficiaries in the 1 to 1 in-depth semi-structured interviews had reported coming off anti-depressants.

At 12 months from baseline the WHLC's database was consulted to understand what changes had occurred in beneficiary's lives in the longer term and what engagement beneficiaries had with the broader WP programme. The table below shows that individual

beneficiaries are seen on average 7 times by the two workers. Although, the range of the number of sessions attended can vary; with one client being seen 22 times during the three months of BO.

Table 13: Attendance on Branching Out sessions (n=128).

|               | Number of<br>Sessions | Mean number of sessions/client | Range of sessions/client | Modal sessions |
|---------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------|----------------|
| Branching Out | 945                   | 7.32                           | 1 - 22                   | 3              |

Beneficiaries have an opportunity to attend a variety of Time-Out Groups having gone through the BO sessions with the health workers. These sessions are various but they are also open to anyone to access from the community. Existing Time-Out Group users can include individuals that were previously BO participants. Or they may have been recommended by friends or other primary care service providers. As such they offer an additional medium SP opportunity at the WHLC. Out of 128 Beneficiaries only 22% (n=28) opt to go on to attend a Time-Out Group session.

Table 14: Attendance on Time-Out Group Out sessions (n=28).

|                | Number of<br>Sessions | Mean number of sessions/client | Range of sessions/client | Median<br>sessions |
|----------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------|
| Time-Out Group | 391                   | 13.96                          | 1 - 72                   | 13                 |
| Sessions       |                       |                                |                          |                    |

Time-Out Groups Sessions that could be enjoyed include:

- Kitchen on Prescription
- Knit and Natter
- Somali Health and Wellbeing group
- Support to Stop Smoking
- Time-Out for Men
- Time-Out for Women

We were able to examine the outcome data from the WHLC database of 80 beneficiaries who first came to the Wellbeing programme 12 months ago. The table below summarises

the employment outcomes that beneficiaries have achieved during this time. If shows that within 12 months of being on the programme 29% of beneficiaries manage to obtain employment, voluntary work or had accessed some form of education or training.

Table 15 Employment outcomes of Wellbeing Programme participants at 12 months (n=80)

| Employment Outcome achieved | Percentage (Number) |
|-----------------------------|---------------------|
| Full time employment        | 8% (n=6)            |
| Part time employment        | 4% (n=3)            |
| Voluntary Work              | 9% (n=7)            |
| Education or training       | 9% (n=7)            |
| Total                       | 29% (n=23)          |

In addition to achieving employment Table 16 below reports on advisory and counselling services accessed by beneficiaries within 12 months of starting on the WP. This includes 29% (n=23) of beneficiaries who have accessed Employment Links. Employment Links can provide advice, assistance and training to individuals to help them to access training, education and work opportunities. They also deliver a range of training interventions from sessions to build basic skills through to vocational courses.

Additional services beneficiaries were supported with while on the WP are outlined in the table below. In several cases the workers on the project will do more than signpost what is available. Part of the SP holistic approach is about working with beneficiaries to address all their needs. Through the programme they may come to recognise and confront the manifold problems they face which can include accepting they have a dependency on a substance. Workers can also play key advocate role for beneficiaries and could make and/or attend initial appointments to support the beneficiary.

Table 16 Additional services accessed by beneficiaries of the Wellbeing Programme participants at 12 months (n=80)

| Additional services accessed   | Percentage (Number) |
|--------------------------------|---------------------|
| Referred to other agencies     | 45% (n=36)          |
| Access to Employment Links     | 29% (n=23)          |
| Access debt advice             | 26% (n=21)          |
| Person referred to counselling | 20% (n=16)          |

| Person quits smoking for at least four weeks       | 6% (n=5) |
|--|----------|
| Accessed a decision-making group                   | 6% (n=5) |
| Person support with drug/alcohol addiction issues  | 6% (n=5) |
| Person supported on to an Arts programme           | 5% (n=4) |
| Person supported on to the Freedom programme       | 2% (n=2) |
| Person supported to access Safe accommodation      | 2% (n=2) |
| Person supported to access Health Visiting service | 1% (n=1) |
| Person referred to language course                 | 1% (n=1) |

# The cost effectiveness of the Wellbeing Programme

There has been very little research to explore the cost effectiveness of SP. The Amalthea SP Project based around 26 GP surgeries in the former county of Avon using the referral services of a Health Facilitator is the most recent investigation. This was very much a SP *medium* project i.e. not a *holistic* SP project. It worked with 90 beneficiaries who were referred to a voluntary organisation to manage their access onto a SP supplier from the third sector. It is one of only a few projects to have been comprehensively evaluated, using a RCT and an economic evaluation. The Amalthea Project and subsequent contact with the third sector resulted in clinically important benefits compared with usual general practitioner care in managing psychosocial problems; but at a higher cost. Beneficiaries of the project were seen to be less depressed and less anxious (as WP beneficiaries are) but their care was more costly compared with routine care and their contact with primary care was not reduced (Grant et al, 2000:419):

Psychological interventions in primary care can, but do not necessarily, result in savings in mental health prescribing.

However this cost-benefit study did not look at the long term savings made beyond a year and also failed to compare the costs to what would have happened if the patients had been referred to a specialist and secondary care (Thornett, 2000).

Are RCTs an appropriate way to measure the cost effectiveness of SP projects? Current policy guidance and recommendations suggests that it is important to assess potential saving of future costs (Freidli, 2007:9). SP fits in with the long-term strategic reorientation towards promoting health, independence and well-being, and in essence practitioners believe that by investing in SP now it will reduce the future costs of ill health. Thus there are several critics who argue that short-term economic evaluations of SP are limited and erroneous in concluding that it costs more than usual general practitioner care.

Experience of the Hackney Well Family Service, a family support project we have developed jointly with the Family Welfare Association, suggests this is short-sighted. It fails to take into account the long-term benefits to the community, and the consequent reduced burden on all support services, when the cycle of deprivation can be broken (Goodhart, 1999:525).

This need for taking a long term view on costs has long been advocated by SP practitioners arguing that outcomes are often slow to materialise when working with isolated and often poorly motivated clients (Care Forum, 2012). This is because SP beneficiaries frequently require a considerable amount of time to enable the SP worker to address their multifaceted needs. *Holistic* projects do this. If beneficiary needs are not addressed and a person reaches a crisis point, it then becomes much more difficult and costly to restore their health, employment and social status, with a subsequent exacerbation of economic and health inequalities (Freidli, et al 2007:45).

Thus, these long term benefits need to be considered when assessing cost-effectiveness. The governments focus on outcome and impact, along with the concept of 'value for money', is growing even within philanthropic sector (Leat, 2006). Using the SROI methodology it is officially accepted is an appropriate method for assessing third sector value (Cabinet Office, 2009). It enables third sector providers and commissioners an opportunity to see the broader value that third sector organizations can bring. In essence SROI approaches compare the monetary benefits of a program or intervention with the program costs (Phillips, 1991). In this sense SROI represents a development from traditional cost-benefit analysis as practiced by Grant et al (2000) when they assessed the costeffectiveness of the Amalthea SP project. Developed in in the late 1990's it aims to fully valorise all social impacts of any intervention (Emerson, 2000). This is a method for measuring and communicating a broad concept of value, which incorporates the social, environmental and economic impacts, generated by all the activities of an organisation (Greenspace Scotland, 2009). SROI therefore works to demonstrate the extent of this value creation by measuring a range of social, environmental and economic impacts, using monetary values to represent these impacts and enabling a ratio of benefits to costs to be calculated (Cabinet Office, 2009).

SROI developed from traditional cost—benefit analysis in the late 1990's (Emerson, 2000). The SROI approach captures the economic value of social benefits by translating social objectives into financial measures. In the previous chapter we outline the impact of the WP has had on beneficiaries using the WWQ and identified some of the outcomes that has been achieved in the 12 months after starting the BO component of the programme. Here we will valorise these impacts.

## Suicide prevention

One of the key messages that came through our 1 to 1 in-depth semi-structured interviews and responses to the WWQ was that for the majority of the beneficiaries they see an improvement in their mental wellbeing. Note individual beneficiaries may not have necessarily been diagnosed with a mental illness when they were referred to this SP project, but on arrival the GAD7 and PHQ9 items reveal considerable levels of anxiety and depression at baseline that are reduced during their exposure to the BO component. Our

qualitative interviews revealed that many beneficiaries who end up on the WP have faced severe challenges. We know from the WWQ that 77% (n=98) at base line were rated as either having moderately severe depression or severe depression on the PHQ9 scale. It is known that 90% of people who commit suicide suffer from a mental disorder and 60% suffer from depression (WHO, 2006:4). Our qualitative interviews with almost a third (31%, n=40) revealed beneficiary reflections on desperate circumstances and sometimes chaotic lifestyles. 13% (n=5) of those interviewed referred to feeling suicidal or having suicidal thoughts during the interview:

I was at my wit's end. I was like. Things were so bad I could have topped myself. I just had nowhere to go. I had such a row with my partner, it was bad I just smashed things up. (Beneficiary, N15)

Sometimes I feel self-destructive but I think that is probably quite normal. (Beneficiary, N25)

If I hadn't started to talk about these things I don't think I would be here. (Beneficiary, N11)

Somebody I have met has brought me back to life. The woman downstairs (the doctor in the GP surgery) didn't give me any help. (Beneficiary, N2)

Suicidal thoughts and being desperate were feelings that beneficiaries express. In times following the economic crash in 2008, individuals have come under increasing pressure. Stuckler et al (2013) point out that at a time of austerity suicide rates increase. Suicides were falling in the UK before the recession, they spiked in 2008 and 2009 at the same time as a sudden rise in unemployment. In Bristol the recorded standardised mortality ratio for suicides and undetermined death between 2007 and 2009 was 9.5/100,000 compared to the South West average of 8.4 (SWPHO, 2011, accessed 15th September 2013). As unemployment fell again in 2009 and 2010, so too did suicides. But, in the past few years, as austerity measures have begun to take effect, suicides have risen (Arie, 2013:10).

It is hard to definitely say whether the WP directly prevented a beneficiary from committing suicide. Interviewee N11 claims it definitely did. However, what we do know from recent research in the UK is that 45% of patients who complete suicide contact a primary care provider (e.g. their GP) in the month preceding their death (Dolton, 2013:347). The WP is a GP referral SP intervention. People are referred after primary care contact and it is clear that they have worked with so many people who were in desperate need. People like beneficiary N18:

A male 36, refused to leave room in mother's house for three months, struggling on anti-depressants, history of violence towards girlfriend, unemployed, doesn't see children, no friends, alcohol dependent. (Beneficiary, N18)

We know from our discussion above that the cost of mental health accounts for 2% of GDP according to Professor Layard (2005). A lot of this cost is in services expended to deal with attempted suicides. In their review of mental health costs for the NHS Platt et al (2006) have argued that the average cost of a completed suicide for those of working age in England is £1.67m (2009 prices). This includes intangible costs (loss of life to the individual and the pain and suffering of relatives), as well as lost output (e.g. employment), (both waged and unwaged), police time and funerals. But, there are also costs to the public purse from recurrent non-fatal suicide events. Overall it is estimated that costs are averted to £66,797 per year per person of working age where suicide is delayed. Figures will vary depending on means of suicide attempt. One recent English study indicates that only 14% of costs are associated with A&E attendance and medical or surgical care; with more than 70% of costs incurred through follow up psychiatric inpatient and outpatient care (Knapp et al, 2011:26).

In the scoping exercise to understand the range of SP provision all SP practitioners tended to argue that one of the real achievements of SP is supporting beneficiaries to ensure that their circumstances does not get any worse. Clearly our stakeholder interviews also acknowledged that suicide prevention for some beneficiaries are a real outcome of the work undertaken. Given that one interviewee directly attributed their suicide prevention to the WP the SROI will parsimoniously include the cost of preventing one suicide for one year. However, the number may be greater. We only interviewed 40 beneficiaries in our one to one in-depth semi-structured interviews. We discovered explicit suicide intentions in 5 beneficiaries, when the actual project dealt with 128 beneficiaries in a year.

#### Mental health: Preventing psychosis

Most, if not all of the beneficiaries on the WP would have been referred by their GP because they had been on anti-depressants for some time, and had enduring anxiety and/or had somatoform conditions (i.e. they present physical symptoms for which there is no identifiable physical cause). As far as we know the beneficiaries would not have had their depressive or anxiety symptoms formally diagnosed. At baseline PHQ9 scores reveal considerably high levels of depression. With these high scores interviewees reveal frequent accounts of psychotic behaviour or incidents. RCT research suggests that the transition from prodromal psychosis symptoms to full psychosis occurs for 35% of patients under standard care (Garety et al, 2006:45). What the WP achieves more than anything is that it works with beneficiaries with severe depression and at the end of three months a majority report

reduced levels of depression. We can therefore assume that potentially 35% of beneficiaries who show declining PHQ9 scores have been prevented from becoming a heavier burden on NHS services at least in the short term and associated savings can be calculated. The reduction in service costs is primarily due to the lower demand for inpatient care when specialist early intervention is provided. The annual direct cost per patient of this type of service in terms of input from an early intervention team plus other community psychiatric services and inpatient care has been estimated at £10,927 at 2008/09 prices (McCrone et al, 2011). 98 beneficiaries had moderately/severe depression scores at baseline but this declined to 11 at interim follow up. If we calculate the 35% figure then up to 30 beneficiaries have been prevented from being a heavier burden on the NHS. Without a thorough psychiatric examination (which was beyond the scope of the study) we cannot adequately know how many were psychotic. We know from our interviews we came across 4 interviewees who revealed occasions of psychosis prior to referral and all four show improvement. One interviewee's story (he smashed up his house) comes particularly to mind.

I don't want to remember the past...it's not that I don't want to remember it....its like I got rid of it..... I was in my house.... I was on a tag everyday.... My Mum was an alcoholic, she was suicidal, my sister was in and out of psychiatric wards, she sliced herself on a daily basis she has also sat down and watched one of her kids.......because they were all saying that you are a criminal we are going to class yourself as a criminal when really I was a sick criminal and needed help for my condition but like they were diagnosing me but like none of them were giving me help. (Beneficiary N18)

So for the SROI analysis we will assume 1 person has been saved from moving into requiring more services to deal with the drift into psychosis. But again this is a very parsimonious assumption. We only conducted one to one in-depth semi-structured interviews with 40 beneficiaries, a third of the baseline sample. Other compelling stories are likely to have been revealed if we had the resources to undertake more interviews.

#### **Preventing Depression**

In 2011-12 14.03% of adults in Bristol were diagnosed with depression (NEPHO, 2013). For those identified as being at risk, the cost of six sessions of face-to-face Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (CBT) delivered within the NHS was £240 in 2008-09 (McDaid et al, 2011). It is accepted that by tradition CBT is offered for 12–16 1-hour sessions (Whitfield et al, 2000). The majority of WP beneficiaries were seen for just 7 sessions; roughly half the number of sessions required by CBT therapies. PHQ9 scores suggest that the number of people who had severe depression at baseline was 52%. This reduces to 6% at the end of BO. The

number of people with no depression increases from 3% to 32% i.e. 17 beneficiaries report no depression. Parsimoniously for these beneficiaries we can valorise depression reduced by highlighting savings for each of 6 CBT sessions.

#### Reduced GP attendance

We know that the annual health service cost of people who frequently attend a GP for medically unexplained symptoms amounted to £3.1 billion in 2008-09 (Bermingham et al. 2010). Reducing GP attendance particularly as the service is in 'crisis' is going to be of great benefit to GP practices. Expert opinion suggests that four GP visits at a cost of £38 per visit (Curtis 2009, updated for 2010/11 prices) were needed over a treatment period for such patients. These figures have been used in the local costing templates for people who have mild depression and people who have mild GAD scores to assist with estimating savings and resources released from implementing the guidance (NIHCE, 2011). We know that 60% (n=22) of the 37 beneficiaries for which we have 2 year attendance data are seeing their GP less. They have 0.7 less contacts each which we can valorise.

## Reduced prescription data

It is clear that the costs of anti-depressants are a growing burden on the NHS. A recent report exploring a decade of prescription data found that in the year before new beneficiaries joined the programme just under 46.7 million prescriptions for antidepressants were dispensed in England in 2011, a 9.1% increase on 2010. This was the largest increase in the number of prescription items within all 200 therapeutic areas covered in the report (Health and Social Care Information Centre, 2012).

Estimates given in the costing tool for beneficiaries with GAD and panic disorder (NICE clinical guideline 113) identify that the cost of interventions involving drug treatment ranges from £189 to £449 per person. A mid-point value of £319 has been used to estimate potential savings in the NHS costing template (NIHCE, 2011:19). Costs for antidepressant prescribing rose by £49.8 million to £270 million, a rise of 22.6% on 2010. With prescriptions for fluoxetine, a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI), available as a generic and sold under the brand name Prozac, increasing by 0.1m (15.9%) (NHS Choices, 2012, accessed 22<sup>nd</sup> November 2013). The average monthly cost to the NHS of buying generic SSRI in England and Wales is £14/patient (Nice, 2004). Allowing for the growing costs of SSRIs this can parsimoniously be estimated to be £16/month; we can estimate savings for 6 beneficiaries over nine months of the WP following their experience of being on BO to be £844.

#### Improved Well-being

It is very hard to valorise well-being. Let alone improved well-being. Our impact data reported above suggest that beneficiaries have statistically significant improvements on all

ONS wellbeing indicators. Our 1 to 1 in-depth semi-structured interviews with 40 beneficiaries also delivered strong testament to how far beneficiaries had come in terms of their improved sense of well-being:

It's (the WP) absolutely brilliant. I have never felt better. It's really sorted out my mind. I have got a totally different outlook. Positive thinking. I have real consistent outlook on life.....It feels like a miracle. (Beneficiary N15)

\*\*\*\*\*\*(The Worker) there and I can see the light at the end of the tunnel. I feel so much better in myself (Beneficiary N33)

I found it (The WP) really useful...and I was quite surprised because I am 58 years old so I have tried everything and I have got the T-shirt. (Beneficiary N32)

There is also additional evidence of improved financial well-being for beneficiaries. The WWQ included an item on perceived economic well-being.

Table 17: Perceived economic well-being

|                                | Living comfortably | Doing<br>alright | Just about getting by | Finding it<br>quite<br>difficult | Finding it<br>very<br>difficult | Mean<br>scores |
|--------------------------------|--------------------|------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------------|---------------------------------|----------------|
| Baseline<br>(N=86)             | 2%<br>(n=2)        | 17%<br>(n=15)    | 36%<br>(n=31)         | 20%<br>(n=17)                    | 24%<br>(n=21)                   | 3.41           |
| 3 month<br>follow-up<br>(N=46) | 14%<br>(n=7)       | 19%<br>(n=9)     | 40%<br>(n=19)         | 21%<br>(n=10)                    | 6%<br>(n=3)                     | 2.78           |

These gains over a three month period show that there has been a change at the extremes. In particular there are less (29% compared to 44%) people who feel it is *quite* or *very* difficult to get by. And an improvement from 19% to 33% who feel they are *doing alright* or *living comfortably*. A paired samples t-test was conducted to evaluate the impact of the intervention on beneficiary' perception of their economic well-being and found that there was a statistically significant decrease in economic well-being scores from baseline (M=3.41, SD=1.24) to three months after (M=2.78, SD=1.20), t (45) = 4.49, p= < 0.001. The mean decrease perceived economic well-being in scores was 0.63 with a 95% confidence interval ranging from 0.348 to 0.913. The eta squared statistic (0.31) indicates a large effect.

Given the broad improvement in beneficiary sense of well-being it is important to capture this added value. On the follow-up well-being scores 48 beneficiaries reported improvement on all indicators. It is arguable to imply that BO is a multi-faceted intervention achieving a broad range of outcomes to achieve a sense of well-being. In the recent report for the DoH on the economic costs of mental health one case study was provided of a multicomponent intervention aimed at improving well-being for adults in the work place. It was estimated to cost £80 per employee per year (McDaid et al 2011b:22). We use this proxy but only for a three month period which is the duration of the BO part of the programme.

#### Reduced social isolation

In the past we have used a befriending service charge as a proxy to cost the added value gained from socialising activities that help to end isolation (Shergold, Kimberlee and Musselwhite, 2012). It is clear from the evidence outlined above that many beneficiaries report improvements in connectedness. Table 4 shows that 67% (n=59) were already saying that they were very isolated at baseline. At follow-up three months later only 35% (n=17) were reporting being socially isolated. There are 30 people reporting real improvement in their sense of social connectedness. Our one to one in-depth semi-structured interviews with 40 beneficiaries revealed that they got a lot from the friendships they developed with the project workers.

It would be a 'disaster' if the service was taken away. This has been an important service at this time in my life and I see it as invaluable. It could also be important to many others as there are so many people like me facing and feeling isolated, particular those living in flats in the area (Beneficiary, N28)

I was off my tree basically. I wasn't very happy at the time and he suggested that I come and see \*\*\*\*\*\*. He knew I wasn't very good at talking about my feelings and said so he said try this instead. Since then I know I have found a friend. (Beneficiary, N14)

The importance of the befriending element of the WP cannot be underestimated. Research has shown that befriending can lead to positive outcomes and cost saving benefits for the NHS through the early intervention and prevention of complicated health issues as well as through reducing dependency on its resources (Mulivihill, 2011). Using the parsimonious assumption that the one-to-one BO sessions lasts roughly for 1 hour, beneficiaries have had 7 sessions on average and 30 beneficiaries report improvement in terms of their isolation we can calculate befriending costs for the support they received. This approach has been used before to calculate the befriending value of a Wheels-to-Meals scheme (SROI Network, 2012).

#### *Increased physical activity*

Several beneficiaries have shown improvement in terms of their physical activity by achieving levels of moderate exercise as recommended by the DoH. We have therefore added the cost of physical activity or gym attendance for those beneficiaries. A proxy that has been used in SROI analyses before to valorise improved fitness (Capacity Builders, 2010). In doing this we have looked at the costs of attending a local Fitness Centre.

## Getting back to work

One of the key outcomes of the programme is helping beneficiaries to get back into employment again. At baseline 46% (n=52) of the beneficiaries said they were either looking for work, were long term sick, in education or training or on bail. The WP helped beneficiaries to look for employment opportunities. For some beneficiaries this was about accessing an advisory charity called Employment Links. This is a local organization which provides information, advice and support to people looking for work and/or training. Almost half of those not in employment 44% (n= 23) were signposted and/or supported to visit this agency. Of which 26% (n=6) went on to find full time employment and 13% (n=3) part-time employment. In total 39% (n=9) had found some form of employment. Additionally at least 7 beneficiaries had also taken on some voluntary activity.

A significant majority of WP beneficiaries had been long term employed. Other SROI studies have used benefits saved over the year to calculate value of return to work or actual salary gained (nef, 2008:35). In fact the advice to commissioners from the NIHCE (2011) is that the biggest benefits and savings as a result of implementing psychological therapies like CBT, counselling etc. are likely to be made outside the health service. Improving access to services and providing choice and continuity of service is likely to result in people successfully completing treatment and allowing them to retain or regain employment. The effect of this is to deliver savings in the form of additional tax receipts and reduced welfare benefits payments (NIHCE 2011:20). Unfortunately, we don't know the exact start point of beneficiary employment so this would be difficult to calculate benefit savings. However it is quite feasible that these beneficiaries would at some future point be faced with the requirement to enter the Work Programme. In 2011 the government introduced the Work Programme. This provides personalised support for claimants who need more help looking for and staying in work. Service providers have freedom to decide how best to support Work Programme participants while meeting minimum standards for delivering the service. A recent report of the programme's first year shows that 19% of participants have spent 26 continuous weeks off benefit (DWP, 2012:5). Having 17% (n=9) of beneficiaries who at baseline described themselves as looking for work, long term sick, in education or training or on bail, actually in employment suggests that the WP is performing a return to work service as effective as the Work Programme. Comparison to the Work Programme is important because commissioners of programmes like the WP are frequently requesting evidence of an intervention's contribution to employment. It is also possible to estimate some benefit savings. If we assume that the 9 beneficiaries were in work for 6 months after baseline this would yield a Job Seekers Allowance and Council Tax saving of £142 per week (DWP, 2012). These benefit rates are based on a single person aged 25 and do not include dependents. The benefit savings are estimated to be £33,228. Again we stress that the JSA figure is the lowest benefit amount and therefore again represents a conservative figure. It is very possible that these beneficiaries are in receipt of other out-of-work benefits; they maybe even receiving the higher ESA rate and other pass-ported benefits.

#### Signposting

Given the holistic approach adopted by the programme signposting to different services is crucial to ensure that the issues beneficiaries present with are addressed. A key skill of the project workers are their ability to work with beneficiaries and get them to accept positive steps to address key personal issues. It is a form of Motivational Interviewing, which is grounded in developing a respectful stance with a focus on building rapport and developing a trusting relationship. This requires the project worker to identify, examine and resolve their ambivalence about changing behaviour (Miller et al, 2009). A review of SP projects in Scotland has shown that vulnerable or disadvantaged patients may be unlikely or unable to access community-based opportunities without additional support (Friedli, 2007:37). Thus the project workers provide active support at a crucial time is a key component of developing recovery and starting the process of taking control.

A key issue revealed by beneficiaries was personal debt. At least 26% (n=21) of beneficiaries followed up at 12 months were getting support to access debt advice. Even before the current global financial crisis, it was estimated that 8% of the population had serious financial problems and another 9% showed signs of financial stress. These problems have wide-ranging implications and research has shown that debt is often linked to poor mental health. For the general population, contact with face-to-face advice services is associated with a 56% likelihood of debt becoming manageable (Knapp et al, 2011:24). On a holistic SP project the project workers are able to work with beneficiaries and get them to accept and own their debt problem and get them prepared for debt counselling. It is a valued and a time-saving first step that prepares beneficiaries to respond to support around debt advice.

The importance of signposting and supporting beneficiaries applies to getting beneficiaries into Employment Links to begin the process of returning to work. Considerable return to work success has been achieved. To other beneficiaries it was about accessing counselling (20%, n=16). In counselling the first 30 minute of a counselling service is usually a free introductory meeting designed to see if they can work comfortably together (Kate Murphy Counselling in Bristol, 2013, Accessed 13<sup>th</sup> November 2013). In having a local holistic

approach to SP strong links are already made with counsellors where the appropriateness of the service is already understood. This initial screening is less required and ease of access is made for on-going support beyond BO.

Supportive signposting was also undertaken with 6 beneficiaries who had addiction issues to address. We take account of the cost of addiction counselling in our SROI by looking at a local addiction counsellor fees.

Finally, the WP uses volunteers to deliver some activity particularly around the Time-Out groups. We estimate that five volunteers support the programme for 30 hours a week. This can be factored into the SROI calculation.

Table 18: The costs of running the WP programme 2012-13\*

| Staffing Costs                  |                          | 40, 818 |
|---------------------------------|--------------------------|---------|
| National Insurance              |                          | 4,490   |
| Room Hire                       |                          | 6,334   |
| Clinical Supervision            |                          | 900     |
| Mobile Phone                    |                          | 720     |
| Training                        |                          | 300     |
| Admin support (1 day/week)      |                          | 3,968   |
| Rent                            |                          | 806     |
| Service charge                  |                          | 1,384   |
| Child care support              |                          | 900     |
| Training for Befrienders        |                          | 800     |
| Room Hire at another GP surgery |                          | 1,920   |
| Total Running Costs             |                          | 63,340  |
|                                 | Management and overheads | 19,805  |
| TOTAL ANNUAL SPEND              | 83,144                   | 1       |

\*Source Accountants Report

Below are the values calculated to support the social return on investment provided by the WP.

Table 19: Proxy values created by the project

| Value   | Evidence Source for Proxy  |   |        |
|---|--|---|--------|
|   |  |   | nt £   |
| Delayed<br>Suicide for<br>one year  | Knapp, M., McDaid, D., & Parsonage, M. (Eds.). (2011:25). Mental health promotion and mental illness prevention: The economic case. London: Department of Health.  |   |        |
| Prevention of<br>referral of<br>one<br>beneficiary<br>to secondary<br>care<br>psychiatric | The annual direct cost per patient of service to support patients with psychosis in terms of input from an early intervention team plus other community psychiatric services and inpatient care has been estimated at £10,927 annually at 2008/09 prices (McCrone, 2011).  |   |        |
| services.   |  |   |        |
| Return to<br>work saving<br>of Work<br>Programme<br>fees                                  | 9x £1,200 Job Outcome Fee service group B for JSA 25-<br>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl<br>march-2013.pdf. Accessed 6th September 2013.  |   | 10,800 |
| Return to<br>work.  | Benefit savings for 9 beneficiaries over 6 months based over 25.  http://www.dwp.gov.uk/docs/benefitrates2012.pdf, A   |   | 33,228 |
| Supporting into Debt advice   | 21 x £15 The cost of providing 1 hour of debt advice to Advice Centre. http://www.bdac.org.uk/services/debta   | 21 beneficiaries. Hourly rate charged by Bristol Debt   | 315    |
| Supporting into employment links  | 23 x £14 The Cost of employment mentoring provided by Third Sector Solutions  http://www.thirdsectorsolutions.net/services/support-services/personal-support.htm  Accessed 6th September 2013.   |   |        |
| Supporting into counselling   | 16 x £35 the cost of preparing for counselling. Price charged by a local counsellor.  http://www.katemurphycounselling.co.uk/phdi/p1.nsf/supppages/3849?opendocument∂=4  Accessed 13th November 2013.  |   | 560    |
| Support into addiction counselling  | 6 x£35 for 1 hour of addiction counselling on a 12 week programme http://www.therapychippenham.com/addiction-counselling/ Accessed 14 <sup>th</sup> November 2013  |   | 210    |
| Reduced GP<br>attendance<br>Reduction in  | 17 x 0.7 X £38 for GP appoint costs for patients with high Gad scores, Personal social services research unit (PSSRU) available [online] from: http://www.pssru.ac.uk/uc/uc.htm. (Curtis 2009)  17 x The cost of six sessions of CBT valued at £240 in 2008-09 (McDaid et al, 2011).   |   | 452    |
| depression  | The cost of six sessions of obt valued at 12 to 112  | 1000 05 (McDula et al, 2011).   | 4,080  |
| Reduced<br>social<br>isolation  | Befriending services for 30 isolated new beneficiaries, rate. 71 x 10 x $\pm$ 6.19. $\pm$ 4,394.   | for 7 sessions of 1 hour charged at the minimum wage  | 1,230  |
| Improved<br>Physical<br>activity  | Gym membership at Lifestyles Fitness Centrr + (£4.50/session x12) = £79 x 22 (12 week Adults should aim to be active daily. Over a 150 minutes (2½ hours) of moderate intens At baseline 17 of beneficiaries said they w At follow up 34 were achieving this level of reaching DoH recommendations on exercise http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsands dGuidance/DH 127931 Accessed 1st Nov | s is the length of the BO programme) a week, activity should add up to at least ity activity according to DoH. were already achieving this level of activity. f activity. Therefore 22 beneficiaries were e. statistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAn | 1,738  |
| Improved  | Improved well-being reported by 48 beneficiaries after   |   | 1,267  |
| well-being.<br>Reduced<br>anti-   | intervention to promote well-being (McDaid et al 201:<br>Cost of antidepressantsNICE (2004) Clinical guideline<br>http://www.nccmh.org.uk/downloads/DCHP/CG23Cos   | 1b:22).<br>on costing depression, Secta   | 864    |
| depressants   | Accessed 20th November 2013  |   |        |
| Volunteer<br>engagement   | 5 x 30 x £6.12 The national minimum wage in 2012.  https://www.gov.uk/government/news/national-minimum-wage-to-rise-from-1-october-2013  Accessed 22 <sup>nd</sup> November 2013   |   | 918    |
|   | i  |   |        |

A lot of the values calculated for the SROI are calculated on the basis of a sample of people (e.g. the 40 beneficiaries who participated in the one to one in-depth semi-structured interviews). Below we scale up these values on the assumption that they represented only 31% of all the beneficiaries involved in the WP in one year. The 40 interviewed were the first 40 to complete the BO component of the WP. We are not aware of anyone refusing the invitation to participate and as such there is nothing special or unique about them that would necessarily differentiate them from the other beneficiaries.

Table 20: Values scaled up to apply to whole sample

| Value   | Source for Proxy   |                  | Amount<br>£ |
|---|--|------------------|-------------|
| Delayed Suicide for one year  | Evidence from 1 to 1 in-depth semi-structured interviews   | £66,797<br>x 3.2 | 213,750     |
| Prevention of referral of one beneficiary to secondary care psychiatric services. | Evidence from the outcome information stored of the whole cohort on the WHLC at 12 months            |                  | 10,927      |
| Return to work saving of<br>Work Programme fees                                   | Evidence from the outcome information stored of the whole cohort on the WHLC at 12 months            |                  | 10,800      |
| Return to work.   | Evidence from the outcome information stored of the whole cohort on the WHLC at 12 months            |                  | 33,228      |
| Supporting into Debt advice   | Evidence from the outcome information stored of the whole cohort on the WHLC at 12 months            |                  | 315         |
| Supporting into<br>employment links   | Evidence from the outcome information stored of the whole cohort on the WHLC at 12 months            |                  | 322         |
| Supporting into counselling   | Evidence from the outcome information stored of the whole cohort on the WHLC at 12 months            |                  | 560         |
| Support into addiction counselling  | Evidence from the outcome information stored of the whole cohort on the WHLC at 12 months            |                  | 210         |
| Reduced GP attendance   | Based on the GP attendance records of 37 beneficiaries attending one GP surgery                      | £452 x<br>3.45   | 1,559       |
| Reduction in depression   | 17 x The cost of six sessions of CBT valued at £240 in 2008-09 (McDaid et al, 2011).                 |                  | 4,080       |
| Reduced social isolation  | Evidence from the outcome information stored of the whole cohort on the WHLC at 12 months            |                  | 1,230       |
| Improved<br>Physical activity   | Based on self-report of (n=48) beneficiaries who completed the item on follow-up WWQ at three months |                  | 4,623       |
| Improved well-being.  | Based on self-report of (n=48) beneficiaries who completed the item on follow-up WWQ at three months |                  | 3,370       |
| Reduced anti-depressants  | Evidence from 1 to 1 in-depth semi-structured interviews   |                  | 2,764       |
| Volunteer<br>engagement   | Evidence from the outcome information stored of the whole cohort on the WHLC at 12 months            |                  | 918         |
|   | TOTAL RETURN £288,656  |                  |             |

# **Establishing impact**

We have valorised the impact and scaled up the values to ensure they reflect the whole cohort. However we need to establish impact to reduce the risk of over-claiming. It is only by measuring and accounting for all of these factors that a sense of the impact that the WP is having can be understood. There are four aspects of establishing impact:

*Deadweight* – how much of the activity would have happened anyway.

Attribution – how much of the outcome was caused by the contribution of other organisations or people.

*Displacement* – what activities or services are displaced.

*Drop-off* – the decline in the outcome over time (only calculated for outcomes that last for more than one year).

#### Deadweight

Deadweight is a measure to describe the amount of the outcome that would have happened anyway, even if the WP had not been available or if they had not been referred onto the intervention by their GP. In establishing deadweight, and through exploring deadweight during our interviews, it was believed that in most cases the beneficiaries would have done very little without some form of intervention in their lives. We have already highlighted in our discussions around the context to the project that these beneficiaries are already in a desperate situation when they come to the WP. Their GPs have already decided that they cannot provide any medical solution to meet their needs. In fact they could have been dependent on GP services for a considerable time. Our stakeholder interviews suggested that many had. It is only through SP that referring health professionals believe a solution will be found to meet these people's needs. Our interviews identified that having the personal support offered by the health workers as well as the options of joining the Time Out group were key factors in helping to build motivation and personal wellbeing in the beneficiaries. We have highlighted the depth of mental health problems found in the UK and the problem of actually accessing mental health services locally. In our scoping work for Bristol Clinical Commissioning Group we have also highlighted that there are insufficient holistic SP provision across the city and the Health and Wellbeing Board have now decided to invest and expand the service to other areas of inequality in the city (Kimberlee, 2013).

We have highlighted from the scoping exercise around local SP provision that all SP practitioners tended to argue that one of the real achievements of SP is supporting beneficiaries to actually ensure their circumstances does not get any worse. Clearly our stakeholder interviews also acknowledged that suicide prevention for some beneficiaries

was a very real outcome of the work undertaken. Health economists Knapp et al (2011) in their advice to the DoH argued that the economic case for intervening and developing mental health interventions should be expanded to deliberately restrict the burdening and increasing costs of mental health and their pharmacological solutions. Thus the premise here is that deadweight is not necessarily an issue. These beneficiaries are often desperate people. In fact there is evidence to suggest that the trends in wellbeing demonstrated here is sometimes counter to what is happening around them e.g. achieving a good return to work rate compared to the Work Programme and improving physical activity when around them we have shown that the city's Quality of Life survey suggests that rates of physical activity are actually in decline (Bristol City Council, 2013).

It is quite conceivable that a few may have had help and support from elsewhere that may have yielded the same effect. Given that most live alone and others report that their family/partner told them to go to the GP or seek advice suggests otherwise. As a result, in the absence of a clear comparator it is important to try and use a 'best estimate' (Cabinet Office, 2009:56) to assess deadweight. Let us assume that 12 beneficiaries could have improved all things being equal and apply a 10% deadweight reduction. This is similar to a 12% deadweight figure used in a SROI study of clients using an advisory employment and housing service from backgrounds that are similarly disadvantaged and traumatised as those reported by the beneficiaries of the WP (Bates et al 2013:13).

#### Attribution

Attribution is an assessment of how much of an outcome was caused by the contribution of other organisations or people external to the programme. This is difficult to judge as details of the support offered to the client outside of the WP were limited. A question was asked, which was used as the basis for our attribution calculations, around what approaches had been made to other support agencies. A few of our interviews said things like God or their partner had helped, but it is hard to quantify these impacts especially when for some beneficiaries if a partner exists they were often vital in getting them to the WP to get their issues addressed as they couldn't cope or support them anymore. And anyway they may not have been of any help:

I don't want to remember the past...its not that I don't want to remember it....its like I got rid of it.....I was literally suicidal. I was in my house. I was on a tag everyday...I was suicidal. My Mum was an alcoholic, she was suicidal, my sister was in and out of psychiatric wards, she sliced herself on a daily basis she has also sat down and watched one of her kids. As I have got older I have also got

suicidal because I used to help them and say it was not worth killing themselves, because in the end on the inside I was worse...so all the dirt has rubbed off on me...so over a period of years I have started to neglect myself...... have got a big family I have got five kids a mum who has had six kids, my brothers and sisters they have all had kids; one of my brothers lost five kids to social services, I have never had any help in my life because I come from a travelling family ....the only person who could understand myself was \*\*\*\* because they were all saying that you are a criminal we are going to class yourself as a criminal when really I was a sick criminal and needed help for my condition but like they were diagnosing me but like none of them were giving me help but like with probation they say like yes you have got problems and we are giving you help but they just put me on tag and say sit in the house. So I am sat in the house and I have got all these probation letters around me ...and I don't know what to do...I want to do something with it and I don't know and my mum she is dyslexic and she never know what it is about ....but here it has been about helping me and starting that process of getting beyond all this crap. (Beneficiary N2)

You will note from our valorisations of outcomes we have only valued the cost of getting the beneficiary to other support in the community i.e. the value of getting people to accept their problem and getting them motivated to do something about the challenges they face. We believe this is a very parsimonious approach to adopt. However it is clear that after leaving BO the other agencies referred too could have been very instrumental in achieving other outcomes like a return to work. So around the values gained around employment (i.e. benefits saved and the Work Programme avoided) we will attribute a 30% deduction to reflect other people's support in returning to work. A similar attribution was given around employment by Bates et al (2013:26).

## Displacement

Displacement is another component of impact and is an assessment of how much of the outcome displaced other services. Our interviews and focus groups with stakeholders and new beneficiaries revealed very limited evidence of displacement. Their loneliness, absence from or lack of work and the lack of suitable mental health services to suit their needs suggest very little displacement. There are no other services locally that would seem to address their multiple needs. In fact getting support for all of their needs is unique to the holistic SP approach. Nevertheless it is a standard SROI approach to assume some displacement. Nef and others are currently working on specific guidance on displacement in

relation to employment support and recommended displacement rates for state outcomes of similar projects range from 20 - 60%. We will opt for a median estimate of 40% (Bates, 2013:26).

Table 21: Deadweight, attribution and displacement values applied to scaled up values in

| Adjustment   | Calculation                 | Adjusted Value |
|--------------|-----------------------------|----------------|
| Deadweight   | £288,656 - 10%              | £259,791       |
| Attribution  | £259,791 - (30% of 10,927 + | £253,138       |
|              | 10,800)                     |                |
| Displacement | £253,138 - (40% of 10,927 + | £244,448       |
|              | 10,800)                     |                |
| SROI         |                             | £244,448       |

# Having established the impact of the WP we calculate a Social Return on Investment ratio of £2.90: £1

This means that for every pound of investment in the WP, £2.90 of social value is created. We feel this is a very parsimonious reflection of the value created. Health economists like Knapp et al (2011) suggest quantifying these impacts across all beneficiary life years, whereas we are just commenting on one year.

#### Drop off

Discounting is usually applied to those values that could be projected for longer than one year. The interest rate to be used to discount the value of future benefits should be 3.5% as recommended in the Treasury's Green Book. For the wellbeing benefits identified in the analysis we could reduce the value by a still quite conservative 10% drop-off rate. Our thinking is that almost without exception the beneficiaries and particularly the GPs we spoke to felt the WP considerably improved the health and wellbeing of beneficiaries who were on the programme. Our data using validated items shows that over time the majority of beneficiaries make positive improvement to their lives having come from situations and experiences that in essence were life threatening in several cases. However, some set back by encountered by a few especially if unanticipated outcomes occur. Continued use of the WWQ tool will help WHLC and other services to revisit the drop-off discount.

# **Conclusions & Recommendations**

This research has shown there is a growing crisis in primary care and with GP services in particular. It has been suggested that GP in the UK needs more investment to recruit at least 10 000 more GPs by 2022 in order for the NHS to meet the population's growing and increasingly complex, health needs. This is according to the chair of the Royal College of General Practitioners (Gerada 2013). However if policy makers and commissioners want to develop the scale of their primary care service to address this need, now is the time to adopt more imaginative and innovative approaches utilising the combined resources that new partners can bring (Addicott, 2014). Third sector partners like those discussed in this report have shown they have the ability to help CCGs and the DoH to rebalance the way health services are delivered to address (in particular) long term conditions that will be an increasing drain on future NHS resources.

To help make this happen, research undertaken for the Nuffield Trust has recommended that NHS England should work with CCGs, GPs, patient groups and professional bodies to create a national framework for primary care. The framework should set out the outcomes and overall vision for primary care, both in relation to service provision and the wider role of primary care in the health and social care system. They argued that it should not specify the details of how the vision might be achieved, nor the organisational form to be used. Instead they recommend that this needs to be worked out locally with extensive public and patient engagement (Smith, 2013:15). Third sector organizations will have a clear opportunity to be part of the process.

New models for primary care could include SP projects that are seeking to address the growing burden of mental health in the UK. *Holistic* SP interventions are interventions that have grown organically over time and they represent a local partnership approach between GP services and third sector providers to respond to known local needs. The benefits of a *holistic* SP intervention have been highlighted in this report. These benefits have been acknowledged by GPs themselves who see for themselves the impact that *holistic* SP approaches can have in alleviating them of some of their more burdensome patients for which they have been unable to provide a clear medical solution.

Preparing for this challenge has been a long term ambition of WHLC. Their WP like other holistic SP projects has taken a lead in accumulating evidence to demonstrate their impact and prove their value. The partnership between UWE and WHLC has developed over several years. At the forefront has always been our drive to develop effective methods to assess impact to enhance the quality of service delivery for future beneficiaries. This is important because a lot of their service users are amongst the vulnerable people who live in our nation. Their third sector/GP partnership offered the potential to look at the value of what can be achieved in adopting SP. Having knowledge of impact and what can work has

enabled the WP to be developed over time. This research demonstrates that the WP can deliver improved wellbeing, lessen depression and anxiety, ameliorate isolation, lessen GP attendance, enhance physical health and improve employment chances for the majority of their beneficiaries. The lessons learnt through this research are broad. WHLC and the Board are aware of the depth of challenges their clients present with in practice. WHLC can also see that the WP is having impacts beyond what they anticipated. This is not simply about improved wellbeing but also includes unanticipated impacts like increased physical activity and enhanced employment prospects.

The tool that we developed for the programme will have benefits in the future. The diagnostic PHQ9 and GAD7 measures will help service providers to reflect on the range of issues that beneficiaries present. They can be used diagnostically to discuss progress. Being able to classify types of depression and anxiety could also lead the service to consider tailoring their work to support different beneficiaries. At the start of the research WHLC anticipated that they would be working with beneficiaries in the lower ranges of PHQ9 scores; but the tool has enabled them to see that predominantly the beneficiaries that are referred by GPs are more likely to have Moderate to Severe Depression. The Friendship Scale scores has helped the project to document the extent to which beneficiaries live isolated lives. WHLC in fact has contributed to the: *Addressing Loneliness in Bristol* conference in Bristol in November 2013. This was a multi-agency conference aimed at developing a partnership approach to address social isolation. At the conference they would have heard a call from Guy Robertson the Director of Positive Ageing Associates in his keynote speech that:

...the evidence base is currently underdeveloped; many interventions have not received a robust evaluation ...and for those that have, many interventions have failed to demonstrate a quantifiable impact. (Robertson, 2013)

WHLC are now collecting robust evidence of their impact. The data from the ONS items on the tool will also help WHLC to get an understanding of beneficiaries' wellbeing. It enables them to undertake comparative analyses with national datasets. There is publically available demographic ONS Wellbeing scores on gender, ethnicity and age splits. And also scores provided at a regional, local authority and ward level. This will provide good information not only for understanding the beneficiary but collectively it could be used to profile their users to future commissioners and for promotional activity. The tool provides important quantitative data, something which the third sector has been broadly accused of lacking.

Right from the beginning UWE and WHLC agreed that we would adopt a SROI approach to assess the value created by the WP. As a framework SROI provides useful guidelines to third

sector organisations that would enable them to understand the SROI process. By doing a SROI like WHLC, third sector organizations will get more than an understanding of value at the end of the process. It empowers them see competing theories of change. It involves stakeholders in mapping out impact, attributing value and collecting evidence. And for the third sector organization they have an audit tool which enables them to understand where most value is created. We think this makes the methodology more suited to the third sector as the sector itself is entirely built on citizen participation and it is unsurprising that successive governments have endorsed its approach (Cabinet Office, 2009). Arguably this cost effectiveness technique varies little from traditional cost-benefit analysis. The tool of choice for most traditional economists and consultants who are recruited to assess financial impact and value. However the differences between the two approaches are largely in the style of each approach, rather than the true substance (Arvidson et al 2010:7). Like cost benefit analysis there will always be an issue with finding suitable proxies, however this research benefitted from the pioneering work undertaken by Knapp et al (2011) in developing robust costings in the area of mental health. These costings informed this research together with official valuations from the NHS and other official sources e.g. DWP. All of which are easily available to the public and third sector organizations.

A key driver in the development of this research proposal from the beginning was a considered anticipation by all partners that the results of the research will help WHLC to understand the economic value of their work. Getting a perspective on costs and value are key to developing a business case to ensure any organization's sustainability in the future. Prior to this there had only been one attempt to undertake a cost-benefit analysis of social prescribing project (Grant et al, 2000) and this was an extremely limited study. The scoping analysis of SP projects reported in this document shows that the SP project explored in this cost-effectiveness study could only be described as a SP *medium* project at best and therefore limited in its relevance today. The research reported here moves our understanding of the social value of SP interventions forward.

Now knowing the SROI that is yielded by the WP WHLC can use this evidence to demonstrate their value to external stakeholders and commissioners. Funding has recently been gained to support Somali, Polish and West Indian people living in the community to address their wellbeing needs. Evidence from here has also been included in discussions with Bristol City Council's Economic Development Unit about trying to work in partnership with local stakeholders to develop a local Enterprise Zone. WHLC could develop a strong referral pathway and target people who are long term unemployed who would like to return to work but have complex social issues that need addressing.

This POV research therefore comes at a pertinent time. This is true nationally as well as locally. Research cited by the British Academy suggests that as little as 20% of the influences on health are to attributable to clinical care and the quality of care. Instead health

behaviours account for 30% of influences and the physical environment for 10%. But by far the most important influence on our health and wellbeing comes from socioeconomic factors – 40% of all influences (British Academy, 2014:3). This is important. SP projects like WHLC's WP are working in communities that face some of the toughest challenges of all communities, including: deprivation, unemployment, health inequalities and the challenges posed by the co-existence of diverse cultures. There are increasing calls for local solutions to be found to these challenges. But these solutions need to evolve from the collection of systematic evaluation approaches utilising cost-effectiveness methods. Without such approaches scarce resources will be insufficiently utilised, allowing health inequalities to persist or increase (Maynard, 2014).

Since the recent reforms in local governance and the Health and Social Care Act (2012) local authorities have once again become major players in health. The recent transfer of responsibility for public health to local government and the creation of health and wellbeing boards will add to their influence. Despite a considerable reduction in their resources, there now exists a real opportunity for local authorities and local communities to make a difference. With shrinking resources and an impending crisis in GP provision (Gerada, 2013) there are new calls for the development of new approaches to meet local health needs (Addicott et al, 2014). In a recent Kings Fund report, Addicott et al (2014) urge GP practices to invest in more preventative interventions to address health need. They are urged to:

move away from the current model of small independently minded practices towards new forms of organisation that enable practices to work together and with other providers to put in place the integrated services that are required. We believe that different funding streams should be used more flexibly to enable this to happen, creating the possibility of practices receiving more resources as funds are released from other areas of cares....... Other providers, including NHS trusts, should also have the opportunity to work with practices in developing this approach (Addicott et al, 2014:2-3)

As the hollowing out of universal state provision continues there are and will be opportunities that could allow third sector providers an opportunity to deliver services to promote wellbeing in innovative ways and in partnership with others to deliver more *holistic* approaches to support local communities. This research has looked at this need and has developed an approach and evidence that will allow other third sector organizations to step up to the plate and prove their value.

### References

Addicott, R. and Ham, C. (2014) *Joining up services in the community GPs leading the way* Kings Fund: London.

Arie, S. (2013) Has austerity brought Europe to the brink of a health disaster? BMJ 2013; 346 doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.f3773 Accessed 18th June 2013.

Arvidson, M., Lyon, F., McKay, S and Moro, D. (2010) *The ambitions and challenges of SROI*, Working paper 49. Third Sector Research Centre.

Avery, A. (2011) Repeat prescribing in general practice, BMJ, d7089.

Bartley, M. (2012) Economic inactivity and health, BMJ, 2012;344:e2858

Bates, B. and Yentumi-Orofori, R. (2013) *Social Return on Investment Report: Veterans Contact Point*. <a href="http://www.veteranscontactpoint.co.uk/general\_files/vcp\_sroi\_final\_draft\_complete.pdf">http://www.veteranscontactpoint.co.uk/general\_files/vcp\_sroi\_final\_draft\_complete.pdf</a>
Accessed 22<sup>nd</sup> November 2013.

Beavers, N. (2013) Social prescribing and community facing services may be the future for GPs, *Primary Care Today*, Autumn 2013.

Bermingham, S. Cohen A, Hague J et al (2010) The cost of somatisation among the working-age population in England for the year 2008-09. *Mental health in Family medicine*.

Brandling, J. and House, W. (2007) *Investigation into the feasibility of a social prescribing service in primary care: a pilot project*. University of Bath and Bath and NE Somerset NHS.

Brandling J. and House, W (2009) Social prescribing in general practice: adding meaning to medicine, *British Journal of General Practice*, 59(563):454–456.

Bristol City Council (2011) Quality of Life in Bristol: Quality of Life in your neighbourhood survey 2010.

http://www.bristol.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/council\_and\_democracy/quality%20of%20 life%20project%202010\_0.pdf

Accessed 23rd November 2011.

Bristol City Council (2013) Quality of Life in Bristol: Quality of Life in your neighbourhood survey results, 2012.

http://www.bristol.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/council\_and\_democracy/consultations/qol\_2013-report\_0\_0.pdf

Accessed 20<sup>th</sup> May 2013.

Bristol Clinical Commissioning Group (2013) *Modernising Mental Health Programme* What we are doing now...

http://www.bristolccg.nhs.uk/your-health-local-services/mental-health-wellbeing/what-we-are-doing-now.aspx

Accessed 21st October 2013.

Bristol NHS (2012) *Modernising adult mental health services in Bristol: Consultation Document* <a href="http://www.bristolccg.nhs.uk/media/15595/Consultation\_document\_FINAL.pdf">http://www.bristolccg.nhs.uk/media/15595/Consultation\_document\_FINAL.pdf</a>
Accessed 11<sup>th</sup> July 2013.

Bristol Social Prescribing Group (2012) *The Case for Social Prescribing in Bristol.* Unpublished minutes of meetings.

British Academy (2014) *If you could do one thing: Nine local actions to reduce health inequalities*<a href="http://www.britac.ac.uk/policy/Health\_Inequalities.cfm">http://www.britac.ac.uk/policy/Health\_Inequalities.cfm</a>
Accessed 27<sup>th</sup> February 2014.

Brown, M., Friedli, L. and Watson, S. (2004) Prescriptions for pleasure, *Mental Health Today*, June, 20–23.

Cabinet Office (2009) A guide to Social Return on Investment, Cabinet Office and SROI Network.

Cameron, D. (2011) Speech on the Big Society, *New Statesman*, 23 May 2011, Milton Keynes. <a href="http://www.newstatesman.com/blogs/the-staggers/2011/05/society-government-public">http://www.newstatesman.com/blogs/the-staggers/2011/05/society-government-public</a> Accessed 21st October 2013.

Campbell, D. (2013) Hard pressed GPs say they can no longer guarantee safe treatment, *Guardian*, 15<sup>th</sup> June 2013.

Capacity Builders (2010) Specialist Rehabilitation Centre Case Study, Social Return On Investment (SROI) A short guide with four case studies,

http://www.onenorthwest.org.uk/doc.asp?ID=50&Doc=/documents/Five%20Counties%20SROI%20Project%20Report%20V2.pdf

Accessed 1st November 2013

Care Forum (2012) An Evaluation of New Routes: A Social Prescribing Service in Keynsham: 3 years from October 2009 to September 2012. The Care Forum.Bristol.

Carlowe, J. (2011) Care in the community is an "unfinished revolution," says think tank, BMJ, d7089.

Cawston, P (2011). Social prescribing in very deprived areas. *British Journal of General Practice*, 61: 350.

Chalder, M., Wiles, N., Campbell, J., Hollinghurst, S., Haase, A., Taylor, A., Fox, K., Costelloe, C., Searle, A., Baxter, H., Winder, R., Wright, C., Turner, K. Calnan, M., Lawlor, D., Peters, T., Sharp, J., Montgomery, A., and Lewis, G. (2012) Facilitated physical activity as a treatment for depressed adults: randomised controlled trial, *BMJ*, 2012;344:e2758

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. CDC mental illness surveillance. <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/mentalhealthsurveillance">www.cdc.gov/mentalhealthsurveillance</a>
Accessed 30<sup>th</sup> May 2012.

Coulter, A., Roberts, S. and Dixon, A. (2013) *Delivering better services for people with long-term conditions: building the house of care*. Oct 2013. London: The King's Fund. <a href="https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/delivering-better-servicespeople-long-term-conditions">www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/delivering-better-servicespeople-long-term-conditions</a>. Accessed 17<sup>th</sup> October 2013

Cronin de Chavez A, Backett-Milburn K, Parry O and Platt S. (2005) Understanding and researching wellbeing: Its usage in different disciplines and potential for health research and health promotion, *Health Education Journal*. 64 (1): 70-74.

Curtis L (2010). Unit costs of health and social care. Personal social services research unit (PSSRU) available [online] from: http://www.pssru.ac.uk/uc/uc.htm.

Daley, A. and Jolly, K. (2012) Exercise to treat depression, BMJ2012; 344:e3181

Darzi Review (2008) *Our NHS Our Future: NHS Next Stage Review - Leading Local Change*, DoH: London.

http://www.nhshistory.net/Leading%20local%20change.pdf Accessed 14th December 2011.

Department of Health (2010) *Improving care and saving money: Learning the lessons on prevention and early intervention for older people,* 

http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod consum dh/groups/dh digitalassets/@dh/@en/@ps/documents/digit alasset/dh 111222.pdf

Accessed 7<sup>th</sup> October 2011.

Department of Health (2011) No health without mental health: A cross-government mental health outcomes strategy for people of all ages, London: HM Government.

Department of Health (2012) *Mental Health Clustering Booklet (V2.03) 2012/13*, London: Department of Health.

Department of Health (2013) *Including a measure of mental wellbeing in the ONS Wellbeing Framework: Measuring National Wellbeing Technical Advisory Group Paper*, London.

Department of Work and Pensions (2012a) The Work Programme: The First Year, London: DWP.

Department for Work and Pensions (2012b) *Schedule of proposed benefit rates from April 2012* <a href="http://www.dwp.gov.uk/docs/benefitrates2012.pdf">http://www.dwp.gov.uk/docs/benefitrates2012.pdf</a>
Accessed 22nd November 2013.

Department of Work and Pensions (2013) *Work Programme – programme costs to 31 March 2013*. <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/209260/wp-costs-to-31-march-2013.pdf">https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/209260/wp-costs-to-31-march-2013.pdf</a>

Accessed 6<sup>th</sup> September 2013.

Dewa, C.S. and McDaid, D. (2011) Investing in the mental health of the labour force: epidemiological and economic impact of mental disorders in the workplace. In: Schultz, Izabela Z. and Rogers, E.

Sally, (eds.) *Work accommodation and retention in mental health*. Springer, New York, USA, pp. 33-52.

Dolton, E. (2013) GPs may be the last port of call in suicide, *BMJ* 2013;347:f6472 doi: <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.f6472">http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.f6472</a>.

Dowrick, C., Bellon, J. and Gomez, M. (2000) GP frequent attendance in Liverpool and Granada: The impact of depressive symptoms. *British Journal of General Practice* 50: 361–5.

Emerson, J. (2000) Social return on investment: exploring aspects of value creation in the non profit sector in Social Purpose Enterprises and Venture Philanthropy in the New Millennium, vol. 2., The Roberts Foundation, San Francisco. pp. 131–173.

Equalities Review (2007). Fairness and freedom: the final report of the Equalities Review. Equalities Review, London.

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100807034701/http://archive.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/equalitiesreview.

European Social Network (2011) *Mental Health and Wellbeing in Europe: A person-centred community approach*, ESN: Brussels.

Friedli L, Griffiths S and Tidyman M (2002) The mental health benefits of arts and creativity for African and Caribbean young men, *Journal of Mental Health Promotion* 1(3):32-45

Friedli, L. and Watson, S. (2004) *Social prescribing for mental health*. Durham: Northern Centre for Mental Health.

Friedli L., Vincent A., and Woodhouse, A. (2007) *Development of Social prescribing and Community Referrals for Mental Health in Scotland*, Scottish Development Centre for Mental Health.

Friedli, L., Jackson, C., Abernethy, H. and Stansfield, J. (2007) Social prescribing for mental health – a guide to commissioning and delivery, CSIP North West.

http://www.mhne.co.uk/files/MHNE126.pdf

Accessed 17th October 2013.

Friedli, L., Themessl-Huber, M. and Butchart, M. (2012) *Evaluation of Dundee Equally Well Sources of Support: Social Prescribing in Maryfield, Evaluation Report Four.* 

http://www.dundeepartnership.co.uk/sites/default/files/Social%20prescribing%20evaluation%20re port.pdf

Accessed 8<sup>th</sup> November 2013.

Fujiwara, D. and Campbell, R. (2011) *Valuation Techniques for Social Cost-Benefit Analysis: Stated Preference, Revealed Preference and Subjective Well-Being Approaches,* HM Treasury and DWP: London.

Gerada, C. (2013) Final keynote speech to the Royal College of General Practitioners Annual conference, 3<sup>rd</sup> October 2013, Harrogate, London.

http://www.rcgp.org.uk/annualconference

Accessed 8<sup>th</sup> October 2013.

Garety, P., Craig, T. and Dunn, G et al (2006) Specialised care for early psychosis: symptoms, social functioning, and patient satisfaction: randomised controlled trial. British Journal of Psychiatry, 188:37–45.

Goodhart, C., Layzell, S., Cook, A. and Graffy J. Family Support in General Practice. J R Soc Med 1999;92:525-528.

Grant, C., Goodenough, T., Harvey, I. and Hine, C.( 2000) A randomized controlled trial and economic evaluation of a referrals facilitator between primary care and the voluntary sector. *BMJ* , 320, 419–23.

Grayer J., Cape J., Orpwood L., Leibowitz J. and Buszewicz M (2008) Facilitating access to voluntary and community services for patients with psychosocial problems: a before-after evaluation, *BMC Family Practice*, 9 (1) 27 - 36.

Greenspace Scotland (2009) Social Return on Investment (SROI) Analysis of the Greenlink, a partnership project managed by the Central Scotland Forest Trust. <a href="http://www.greenspacescotland.org.uk/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=133&mid=129&fileid=1">http://www.greenspacescotland.org.uk/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=133&mid=129&fileid=1</a>

Accessed 13<sup>th</sup> November 2013.

Gulbrandsen P, Hjortdahl P, and Fugelli P (1997), General practitioners' knowledge of their patients' psychosocial problems: multipractice questionnaire survey. *BMJ*, Apr 5;314 (7086):1014-8.

Hardy, J. (2013) Putting less emphasis on classifying mental disorders and more on collaborative working, *BMJ*, 2013;347:f5873.

Harris, E. and Barraclough, B. (1997) Suicide as an outcome for mental disorders. A meta-analysis. *BJP* March 1997 170:205-28.

Hawkes, N. (2012a) Better training is needed to deal with increasing multimorbidity, *BMJ* 2012; 344:e3336.

Hawkes, N. (2012b) NHS spending should focus on mental rather than physical health to promote wellbeing, *BMJ* 2012; 345:e7914.

Hawthorne, G. and Griffith, P. (2000) *The Friendship Scale: Development and properties,* Working Paper 114, Evaluation Unit, Centre for Health Program Evaluation, The University of Melbourne.

Heady, L. and Copps, C. (2008) *Measuring the effectiveness – the way forward* Researching the Voluntary Sector Conference, July 2008.

Health and Social Care Information Centre (2012) Prescriptions Dispensed in the Community: England, Statistics for 2001 to 2011. Published online, July 31 2012.

Healy, D., Le Noury, J., Harris, M., Butt, M. Linden, S., Whitaker, C., Zou, L. and Roberts, A. (2012), Mortality in schizophrenia and related psychoses: data from two cohorts, 1875–1924 and 1994–2010, *BMJ* Open 2012;2:e001810 doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001810.

Heywood, P., Cameron Blackie, G. and Cameron, I.. (1998) An assessment of the attributes of frequent attenders to general practice. *Family Practice* 15: 198–204.

Hippisley-Cox, J. and Vinogradova, Y (2009) *Trends in Consultation Rates in General Practice 1995 to 2008: Analysis of the QResearch database.* London: NHS Information Centre.

HM Inspectorates of Constabulary and Prisons (2013) *Police custody is regularly being used to detain people whose only 'crime' is that they are suffering from a mental disorder, a joint inspection has found,* Press Release #016/2013.<a href="http://www.hmic.gov.uk/news/releases-2013/0162013-police-custody-is-regularly-being-used-to-detain-people-whose-only-crime-is-that-they-are-suffering-from-a-mental-disorder/">http://www.hmic.gov.uk/news/releases-2013/0162013-police-custody-is-regularly-being-used-to-detain-people-whose-only-crime-is-that-they-are-suffering-from-a-mental-disorder/</a>

Accessed 1<sup>st</sup> July 2013.

HM Treasury (2003). The Green Book: appraisal and evaluation in Central Government. Stationery Office, London.

http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/data\_greenbook\_index.htm. Accesse4d 13<sup>th</sup> October 2013.

Institute of Union of Health Promotion and Education (2011) Vancouver Declaration <a href="http://www.ihpe.org.uk/memb/institute.htm">http://www.ihpe.org.uk/memb/institute.htm</a>
Accessed 16th April 2011

IPAQ (2013) International Physical Activity Questionnaire, <a href="http://www.ipag.ki.se/ipag.htm">http://www.ipag.ki.se/ipag.htm</a>

Accessed 21st November 2013.

Jones, M., Kimberlee, R. & Deave, T. (2009) South West Well-being Programme: Final Evaluation Report, Centre for Public Health Research, UWE.

http://hsc.uwe.ac.uk/net/research/Data/Sites/1/UWE-SWWB-Report-WebVersion.pdf

Kate Murphy (2013) Counselling in Bristol

http://www.katemurphycounselling.co.uk/phdi/p1.nsf/supppages/3849?opendocument&part=4 Accessed 13<sup>th</sup> November 2013.

Keenaghan, C., Sweeney, J. and McGowan, B. (2012) The development of best practice information and guidance on Social Prescribing for Primary Care Teams. http://www.nosp.ie/social-prescribing-2012.pdf

Kessler, D., Lloyd, K. and Lewis, G. (1999) Cross-sectional study of symptom attribution and recognition of depression and anxiety in primary care, *BMJ* 318:436-39

Kimberlee, R. and Means, R. (2012) Assessing the Impact of the LinkAge hub in Whitehall and St.George, Bristol: Briefing Report, Bristol: UWE.

Kimberlee, R. (2013) *Developing a Social Prescribing Approach for Bristol,* A report for Bristol Clinical Commissioning Group, October 2013.

Knapp, M., McDaid, D., & Parsonage, M. (Eds.). (2011). *Mental health promotion and mental illness prevention: The economic case.* London: Department of Health.

Lawrence, D., Hancock, K. and Kisely, S. (2013) The gap in life expectancy from preventable physical illness in psychiatric patients in Western Australia: retrospective analysis of population based registers, BMJ 2013;346:f2539.

Layard, R. (2005) *Mental health: Britain's biggest social problem*: Report Presented to the No.10 Strategy Unit Seminar on Mental Health, http://cen.lse.ac.uk/textonly/research/mentalhealth/RI414d.pdf

http://cep.lse.ac.uk/textonly/research/mentalhealth/RL414d.pdf Accessed 16th April 2011

Leal, J., Luengo-Fernandez R., Gray A., Petersen S. and Rayner M. (2006) Economic burden of cardiovascular diseases in the enlarged European Union, *European Heart Journal* 27(13), 1610-1619.

Leat, D. (2006) 'Grantmaking foundations and performance measurement: Playing pool?', *Public Policy and Administration* 21: 25–37.

Limb, M. (2012) Austerity measures will lead to rise in unemployment and suicides, says Marmot, *BMJ*, 2012;344:e2887.

Marden, R. (2011) Can SROI help the voluntary sector measure value? *The Guardian,* Monday 18 July 2011.

http://www.linkedin.com/news?viewArticle=&articleID=642193545&gid=3151866&type=member&item=62383651&articleURL=http%3A%2F%2Fwww%2Eguardian%2Eco%2Euk%2Fvoluntary-sector-network%2F2011%2Fjul%2F18%2Fsroi-help-voluntary-sector-value%23&urlhash=pQYG&trk=group most popular-0-b-shrttl&goback=%2Eanb\_3151866\_\*2%2Egmp\_3151866\_Accessed 6<sup>th</sup> October 2011.

Martin, A., Rief, W., Klaiberg, A and Braehler, E. (2006) Validity of the Brief Patient Health Questionnaire Mood Scale (PHQ-9) in the general population, *General Hospital Psychiatry*, Volume 28, Issue 1, January–February 2006, Pages 71–77.

Maynard, A. (2014) Make good use of evidence of cost-effectiveness before choosing between competing interventions to reduce health inequalities, in *If you could do one thing: Nine local actions to reduce health inequalities,* British Academy: London.

<a href="http://www.britac.ac.uk/policy/Health\_Inequalities.cfm">http://www.britac.ac.uk/policy/Health\_Inequalities.cfm</a>

Accessed 27th February 2014.

McCrone, P., Park, A. and Knapp, M. (2011) Early intervention for psychosis, in Knapp, M., McDaid, D., & Parsonage, M. (Eds.). (2011). *Mental health promotion and mental illness prevention:* The economic case. London: Department of Health.

McDaid, D., La Park, A. and Bonin, E. (2011) Population-level suicide awareness training and intervention in Knapp, M., McDaid, D., & Parsonage, M. (Eds.). (2011). *Mental health promotion and mental illness prevention: The economic case*. London: Department of Health.

McDaid, D., King, D., La Park, a. and Parsonage, M. (2011b) Promoting wellbeing in the workplace, *Mental health promotion and mental illness prevention: The economic case*. London: Department of Health.

McKay, S. and Collard, S. (2003) Developing Deprivation Questions for the Family Resources Survey: Working Paper Number 13. Personal Finance Research Centre, University of Bristol.

Michaelson, J. (2012) *Measuring Well-being: A guide for practitioners*, nef <a href="http://www.neweconomics.org/publications/entry/measuring-well-being">http://www.neweconomics.org/publications/entry/measuring-well-being</a> Accessed 22<sup>nd</sup> November 2013.

Middleton, S. and Ward, J. (2003) Contamination of interventional research is possible through GP membership of more than one division, *Australian Family Physician*, 2003 Jan-Feb;32(1-2):95-6.

McDaid D., Zechmeister I., Kilian R., Medeiros E., Knapp M., Kennelly B. and the MHEEN Group (2008) *Making the Economic Case for the promotion of mental well-being and the prevention of mental health problems*, London: London School of Economics and Political Science.

McKee, P. (2011) *Introduction to contracting using care clusters,* Presentation to the Care Forum, November 2011.

Miller, W. & Rollnick, S. (2009) Ten things that Motivational Interviewing is not. Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy, 37, p129---140.

Mulvihill, J. (2011) Personalised befriending support for older people, Quality in Ageing and Older Adults, Vol. 12: 3, pp.180 – 183.

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (2006) Four commonly used methods to increase physical activity: brief interventions in primary care, exercise referral schemes, pedometers and community-based exercise programmes for walking and cycling NICE public health intervention guidance London: NICE.

http://www.nice.org.uk/page.aspx?o=299528 Accessed 17th February 2013.

National Institute of Health and Clinical Excellence (2011) *Common mental health disorders: identification and pathways to care Implementing NICE guidance: Costing Report,* NICE Clinical Guideline 123.

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (2014) *On-line Glossary* <a href="http://www.nice.org.uk/website/glossary/glossary.jsp?alpha=R">http://www.nice.org.uk/website/glossary/glossary.jsp?alpha=R</a>
Accessed 2<sup>nd</sup> February 2014

Nef (2008) Hitting the target, missing the point: How government regeneration targets fail deprived

http://www.thesroinetwork.org/case-studies/not-assured Accessed 13<sup>th</sup> November 2013.

NHS Bristol (2012) Modernising adult mental health services in Bristol: Consultation Document, Bristol.

NHS Choices (2012) *Are we becoming nation of 'happy pill poppers?'*<a href="http://www.nhs.uk/news/2012/08august/Pages/becoming-nation-of-happy-pill-poppers-fears.aspx">http://www.nhs.uk/news/2012/08august/Pages/becoming-nation-of-happy-pill-poppers-fears.aspx</a>
Accessed 22nd November 2013.

NHS Choices (2013) *Physical activity guidelines for adults,* <a href="http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/fitness/Pages/physical-activity-guidelines-for-adults.aspx">http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/fitness/Pages/physical-activity-guidelines-for-adults.aspx</a> Accessed 11<sup>th</sup> November 2013.

NICE (2004) Clinical guideline on costing depression, Secta <a href="http://www.nccmh.org.uk/downloads/DCHP/CG23CostReport.pdf">http://www.nccmh.org.uk/downloads/DCHP/CG23CostReport.pdf</a>
Accessed 20<sup>th</sup> November 2013

North East Public Health Observatory (2013) *Community Mental Health Profiles 2013: Bristol,* <a href="http://www.nepho.org.uk/cmhp/index.php?pdf=E06000023">http://www.nepho.org.uk/cmhp/index.php?pdf=E06000023</a>
Accessed 15<sup>th</sup> September 2013.

O'Dowd, A. (2011) Use of community treatment orders for mental health patients rises 29% in a year, *BMJ2011*;343doi: 10.1136/bmj.d8346 (Published 30 December 2011).

Office for National Statistics (2012) Analysis of Experimental Subjective Well-being Data from the Annual Population Survey, April to September

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/wellbeing/measuring-subjective-wellbeing-in-the-uk/analysis-of-experimental-subjective-well-being-data-from-the-annual-population-survey--april---september-2011/report-april-to-september-2011.html

Accessed 31st October 2012.

Pasco, J., Jacka, F., Williams, L., Brennan, S., Leslie, E. & Berk, M. (2011). Don't worry, be active: positive affect and habitual physical activity. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 45(12) p. 1047-52.

Perkins R. and Rinaldi M. (2002) Unemployment rates among patients with long-term mental health problems. A decade of rising unemployment, *Psychiatric Bulletin*, 26, 295-298.

Phillips, J. (1991) *Handbook of Training Evaluation and Measurement Methods*, Houston: Gulf Publishing Company.

Pollock, A., Macfarlane, A. and Godden, S (2012a) Dismantling the signposts to public health? NHS data under the Health and Social Care Act 2012, *BMJ*, 2012;344:e2364.

Pollock, A., Macfarlane, A. and Godden, S (2012b) NHS data in the time of reform: Authors' reply to Soljak, *BMJ*;344:e4141.

Popay, J. Kowarzik, S. Mallinson, S. Mackian, S and Barker, J. (2007) Social problems, primary care and pathways to help and support: addressing health inequalities at the individual level. Part II: lay perspectives. *Journal of Epidemiological Community Health*, 2007 November; 61(11): 972–977.

Public Health England (2013) Community Mental Health Profiles, <a href="http://www.nepho.org.uk/cmhp">http://www.nepho.org.uk/cmhp</a>

Accessed: 15th September 2013.

Robertson, G. (2013) *Addressing Loneliness in Bristol: Reviewing the evidence*, Keynote speech at the Addressing Loneliness in Bristol Conference,

Sainsbury Centre (2007) Mental Health at Work: Developing the business case. <a href="http://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/pdfs/mental\_health\_at\_work.pdf">http://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/pdfs/mental\_health\_at\_work.pdf</a> Accessed: 1st October 2011.

Scottish Development Centre for Mental Health (2003) *Building Community Wellbeing An Exploration of themes and issues. Project report to the Scottish Executive,* Edinburgh: The Stationery Office.

Scottish Development Centre for Mental Health (2007) *Developing Social Prescribing and Community Referrals for Mental Health in Scotland, Edinburgh: The Stationery Office.* 

Scottish Executive (2005a) *Doing well by people with depression: Evidence to practice – a guide to help develop services for the management of depression,* Edinburgh: Scottish Executive.

Self,A., Thomas, J. and Randall, C. (2012) Measuring National Well-being: Life in the UK, 2012, London: Office for National Statistics.

Sheldon, T. (2012) Reserve antidepressants for cases of severe depression, Dutch doctors are told, *BMJ*; 344: e4211.

Shepherd, J. (2010) Future Commissioning of Health Services in Bristol - Configuration of GP Commissioning Consortia.

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/committee/2010/sc/sc030/1019\_9.pdf Accessed 21st October 2013.

Shergold, I., Kimberlee, R., Parkhurst, G. and Musselwhite, C (2012) Community Transport in Norfolk, Bristol: UWE.

Smith, J., Holder, H., Edwards, N., Maybin, J., Parker, H., Rosen, R. and Walsh, N. (2013) *Securing the future of general practice: New models of primary care Summary.* 

http://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/sites/files/nuffield/publication/130718 securing the future sum mary 0.pdf

Accessed: 22<sup>nd</sup> July 2013.

Social Exclusion Unit (2004) 'Mental health and social exclusion', London: Cabinet Office. http://www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/media/cabinetoffice/social\_exclusion\_task\_force/assets/publications\_1997\_to\_2006/mh.pdf
Accessed 11th April 2011

Social Prescribing in Bristol: Working Group (2012) A Social Prescribing Model

South, J., Higgins, T., Woodall, J. and White, S. (2008). Can social prescribing provide the missing link? *Primary Health Care Research* & Development, 9, pp 310-318. doi:10.1017/S146342360800087X.

South West Public Health Observatory (2008) *State of the South West* <a href="http://www.swpho.nhs.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=37164">http://www.swpho.nhs.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=37164</a> Accessed 25<sup>th</sup> November 2013.

South West Public Health Observatory (2011) Suicide and self-harm in the South West,

http://www.swpho.nhs.uk/resource/item.aspx?RID=91043

Accessed: 15th September 2013.

South West Public Health Observatory (2011) *State of the South West*, <a href="http://www.swo.org.uk/state-of-the-south-west-2011">http://www.swo.org.uk/state-of-the-south-west-2011</a>

Accessed 14th April 2011

Spence, D. (2012) The psychiatric oligarchs who medicalise normality, BMJ, 2012;344:e3135.

Spitzer, R., Kroenke, K., Williams, J., and Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. *Arch Intern Med* 2006;166:1092-1097.

SROI Network (2012) A guide to Social Return on Investment, London: Cabinet Office.

Stuckler, D. and Basu, S. (2013) The body economic: why austerity kills. London: Penguin, 2013.

Sykes S (2000) A study of the 'social prescribing scheme' at the Park Practice, Penge Unpublished dissertation Leicester: De Montfort University.

Thornett A. (2000) The economic consequences of treating psychosocial disorders, *BMJ*, 320:7232. www.bmj.com/cgi/letters/320/7232/419

Accessed 20<sup>th</sup> October 2013.

Tyldesley R and Rigby T (2003) *The Arts on Prescription Postnatal Depression Support Service : an evaluation of a twelve week pilot Stockport.* 

UK Local Area (2014) *Profile of Lawrence Hill ward* <a href="http://www.uklocalarea.com/stats/q/Lawrence+Hill/wc/00HBPM/I/E01014653">http://www.uklocalarea.com/stats/q/Lawrence+Hill/wc/00HBPM/I/E01014653</a> Accessed 27<sup>th</sup> February 2014

Van De Venter, E. and Gray, C. (2011) *Mental Health Needs Assessment for Adults in Bristol*, Bristol Public Health.

Wellspring Healthy Living Programme (2013) *Wellspring's Wellbeing Programme*, <a href="http://wellspringhlc.org/what-is-new-">http://wellspringhlc.org/what-is-new-</a>

Accessed 29th October 2013.

White, M. & Salamon, E. (2010) An interim evaluation of the 'Arts for Wellbeing', Social prescribing scheme in County Durham. Durham University: Centre for Medical Humanities.

White, C. (2013) The Public Services Act must not be allowed to gather dust, *Guardian Professional*, Wednesday 27 March 2013.

http://www.theguardian.com/public-leaders-network/2013/mar/27/public-services-social-value-act Accessed 21st October 2013

Whitfield, G. and Williams, C. (2003) The evidence base for cognitive—behavioural therapy in depression: delivery in busy clinical settings, *Advances in Psychiatric Treatment*, 9: 21-30.

Windfuhr, K. and Kapur, N. Suicide and mental illness: a clinical review of 15 years findings from the UK National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide, *British Medical Bulletin*, Vol. 100, No 1, 101-21.

World Health Organization (2006) *Preventing Suicide: A resource for counsellors*, <a href="https://extranet.who.int/iris/restricted/bitstream/10665/43487/1/9241594314\_eng.pdf">https://extranet.who.int/iris/restricted/bitstream/10665/43487/1/9241594314\_eng.pdf</a> Accessed 13<sup>th</sup> November 2013.

### **Abbreviations**

AWP Avon and Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership

BMJ British Medical Journal

CBT Cognitive Behavioral Therapy

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CGP College of General Practitioners

CSIP Care Services Improvement Partnership

DoH Department of Health

DSM Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders

DWP Department of Work and Pensions

ESN European Social Network

GAD Generalized Anxiety Disorder

GP General Practice/Practitioner

IHS Integrated Household Survey

IPAQ International Physical Activity Questionnaires

nef new economics foundation

NHS National Health Service

NIHR National Institute for Health Research

NRES NHS Research Ethics Committee

ONS Office for National Statistics

PBR Payment by Results

POV Proving Our Value

PCT Primary Care Trust

PHQ Patient Health Questionnaire

PIN Personal Identification Number

RSVP Retired & Senior Volunteer Programme

SOA Super Output Area

SP Social Prescribing

SPO Social Purpose Organizations

SROI Social Return On Investment

SSRI Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor (SSRI)

SWEMWBS Short Warwick & Edinburgh Mental Well Being Scale

SWF South West Forum

SWWB South West Wellbeing

UWE University of the West of England

WHLC Wellspring Healthy Living Centre

WWQ Wellspring Wellbeing Questionnaire

## **Glossary**

**Attribution** Attribution is an assessment of how much of the outcome was caused by

the contribution of other organisations or people. Attribution is calculated

as a percentage.

**GAD 7** Generalized Anxiety Disorder7 is a self-reported questionnaire for

measuring of generalized anxiety disorder It contains seven questions which measure the severity of the disorder. Respondents are asked to indicate whether this is experienced: 'not at all,' 'several days, 'more than half the days,' and 'nearly every day. A total GAD 7 score is calculated from their

responses.

**Deadweight** Deadweight is a measure of the amount of outcome that would have

happened even if the activity had not taken place. It is calculated as a

percentage.

**Displacement** Displacement is another component of impact in a SROI analysis and is an

assessment of how much of the outcome measured displaced other

outcomes.

**Eta Scores** In statistics eta scores are often provided to indicate the strength of a

phenomenon. Statistical differences or then indicated as small, moderate or

large effect.

**Morbidity** A morbidity is an incidence of ill health e.g. a patient with anxiety and

depression could be described as having two morbidities.

samples/tests; e.g. before and after an intervention. It provides a

probability value which if significant we can assume the effect/impact of the

intervention did not occur because of chance factors.

#### PHQ9

PHQ9 is a self-reported questionnaire for measuring depression. It contains nine questions which measure the severity of the disorder. Respondents are asked to indicate whether this is experienced: 'not at all,' 'several days, 'more than half the days,' and 'nearly every day'. A total PHQ9 score is calculated from their responses.

### **Randomised Control** Trial

RCTs are the 'gold standard' method of measuring the effectiveness of a medical intervention within a patient population. It commonly involves comparing an experimental group who receive an intervention with one that does not.

**Statistically significant** Statistical significance is the probability that an effect of an intervention is seen as not being not due to just chance alone.

# **Appendix 1: Information and consent forms**

Evaluation of Wellspring's Wellbeing Programme

Dear

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\* (Chief Executive Officer at Wellspring Healthy Living Centre) recently wrote to you to explain we are conducting a cost benefit and impact evaluation of the Wellbeing Programme at Wellspring. You have been identified as a potential stakeholder to their centre and work. We would therefore like to invite you to take part in our research. This research is being carried out by researchers at the University of the West of England, Bristol (UWE). Please read the following information carefully. If you have any questions, you will find our contact details at the end of this letter.

#### What is this research about?

The purpose of this research is to evaluate the Wellbeing Programme at Wellspring. In particular we have been asked to 'Prove the Value' of the Wellbeing Programme to help funders to decide whether it is a worthwhile investment. In order to do so, we would like to get some information from you. We are inviting you to take part in our research.

#### Who is conducting the research?

The research team includes Dr Richard Kimberlee and Dr Rachel Manning, from UWE, and also members of Wellspring staff. The research is being funded by the South West Forum, a charity that supports and promotes voluntary organizations like the Wellspring Healthy Living Centre. South West Forum is supported by the Big Lottery.

#### If I take part what will it involve?

If you agree to help us we will ask you a series of standard questions in an interview. It will take between 30 and 45 minutes of your time. We would like to do this face to face but if it is inconvenient to you we can also interview by telephone or skype. The questions are designed to enquire about the impact of the Wellbeing programme. It will also provide you with an opportunity to discuss your work with the Wellspring Healthy Living Centre.

#### Confidentiality of information

Everything you say will be treated in confidence. Your answers will provide us with data. All data and consent forms will be kept confidential and stored in a locked filing cabinet at UWE. Your anonymised answers from the interview will be transcribed by the researchers.

Your identity will remain anonymous. Any identifiable information, such as your age, occupation, role will be removed from the typed up notes and also from any reports or publications that are produced using the data we collect.

Withdrawal of data

You are free to withdraw from the research at any time. NAME will explain this in more detail. If you wish to withdraw your contribution, please contact the researchers (contact details below). However, please note that, due to the nature of the anonymised process, once this data has been collected, and your contribution anonymised, this will no longer be possible. So if you wish to withdraw your data, you will need to do so within 2 weeks of the interview taking place.

Please keep this information in a safe place.

If you have any questions about this research, please contact:

Dr Richard Kimberlee
Faculty of Health and Life Sciences
University of the West of England
Coldharbour Lane
Bristol
BS16 1QY

Tel: 0117 3281124

Email: Richard.Kimberlee@uwe.ac.uk

or

Dr Rachel Manning Faculty of Health and Life Sciences University of the West of England Coldharbour Lane Bristol

BS16 1QY

Tel: 0117 3283956

Email: Rachel.Manning@uwe.ac.uk

Participant consent form: Evaluation of Wellspring's Wellbeing Programme

The purpose of this form is to ensure that you have received all the necessary information concerning the research project and wish to take part. Please read the following statements carefully. If you agree that all points of information have been covered please sign and date

the sheet in the space provided below. If you are unclear on any point please ask NAME or contact us.

#### Consent statement

Participant information

I have read and understand the information presented in the Information Sheet. I have had the opportunity to discuss it with NAME and to ask any questions. I understand that:

- My participation is entirely voluntary
- I am free to refuse to answer any question during the interview
- I am free to withdraw from the research project at anytime

I agree to take part in the research and I give my permission for anonymised data from my interview to be used for the 'Proving the Value' project.

| Name:   |
|---------|
| Signed: |
| Date:   |

If you have any questions about this research, please contact:

Dr Richard Kimberlee
Faculty of Health and Life Sciences
University of the West of England
Coldharbour Lane
Bristol
BS16 1QY

Email: Richard.Kimberlee@uwe.ac.uk

or Dr Rachel Manning

Faculty of Health and Life Sciences

University of the West of England Coldharbour Lane Bristol BS16 1QY

Email: Rachel.Manning@uwe.ac.uk

Appendix: Old beneficiary letter and consent form

#### **Dear Beneficiary**

We are conducting an evaluation of the Wellbeing Programme at Wellspring and would like to invite you to take part in this. The research is being carried out by researchers at the University of the West of England, Bristol (UWE). Please read the following information carefully. If you have any questions, you will find our contact details at the end of this letter.

#### What is this research about?

The purpose of this research is to evaluate the Wellbeing Programme at Wellspring. In particular we have been asked to 'Prove the Value' of the Wellbeing Programme to help funders to decide whether it is a worthwhile investment. In order to do so, we would like to talk to people who have used this Programme. We are inviting people to take part in group discussions about their experiences of the Wellbeing programme and how they feel about it, and perceptions of how it works, and how they feel about it.

#### Who is conducting the research?

The research team includes Dr Richard Kimberlee and Dr Rachel Manning, from UWE, and also members of Wellspring staff. The research is being funded by South West Forum, a charity that supports and promotes voluntary organizations like Wellspring Healthy Living Centre.

#### If I take part what will it involve?

You will meet with other people from the Wellbeing Programme at the Wellspring Centre to discuss your experiences of the Wellbeing programme. You will be asked questions about your experiences before, during and after your time on the programme. The group discussion will be tape recorded, and should last around 1 hour, depending on how much you have to say. Only the research team will hear the group discussion. In any reports resulting from this research, your name and any other identifying information will not be included.

#### **Confidentiality of information**

All consent forms will be kept confidential and stored in a locked filing cabinet. Your group discussion will be transcribed by the researchers. The recording will be stored on a password protected computer and any typed up notes from the discussion will be kept in a locked filing cabinet. You will remain anonymous; any identifiable information, such as your name, age, or where you live will be removed from the typed up notes and also from any reports or publications that are produced using these data.

#### Withdrawal of data

You are free to withdraw from the research at any time. We will explain this in more detail at the start of the discussion group. If you wish to withdraw your contribution after the discussion group, please contact the researchers (contact details below). However, please note that, due to the nature of typing up group discussion, once this data has been done, and your contribution anonymised, this will no longer be possible. So if you wish to withdraw your data, you will need to do so within 2 weeks of the discussion group taking place.

Please keep this information in a safe place.

If you have any questions about this research, please contact:

Dr Richard Kimberlee
Faculty of Health and Life Sciences
University of the West of England
Coldharbour Lane
Bristol
BS16 1QY

Tel: 0117 3281124

Email: Richard.Kimberlee@uwe.ac.uk

or Dr Rachel Manning
Faculty of Health and Life Sciences
University of the West of England
Coldharbour Lane
Bristol
BS16 1QY

Tel: 0117 3283956

Email: Rachel.Manning@uwe.ac.uk

#### **Evaluation of Wellspring's Wellbeing Programme**

#### **Dear Beneficiary**

Your Wellspring Project worker (David Martin) would have told you that we are conducting an evaluation of the Wellbeing Programme at Wellspring Healthy Living Centre and would like to invite you to take part in this. The research is being carried out by researchers at the University of the West of England, Bristol (UWE). Please read the following information carefully. If you have any questions, you will find our contact details at the end of this letter.

#### What is this research about?

The purpose of this research is to evaluate the Wellbeing Programme at Wellspring. In particular we have been asked to 'Prove the Value' of the Wellbeing Programme to help funders to decide whether it is a worthwhile investment. In order to do so, we would like to get some information from you. We are inviting you to take part in our research.

#### Who is conducting the research?

The research team includes Dr Richard Kimberlee and Dr Rachel Manning, from UWE, and also members of Wellspring staff. The research is being funded by South West Forum, a charity that supports and promotes voluntary organizations like the Wellspring. The South West Forum is supported by the Big Lottery.

#### If I take part what will it involve?

If you agree to help us and take part we will ask you to fill in a questionnaire now, in 3 months time and after 15 months. The questionnaire will ask you questions on your wellbeing. David will help you to fill in the first questionnaire but researchers from the UWE, with your permission, may help you fill in the other two questionnaires.

We are also asking to see some specific data held by your GP. This is data on your:

Prescriptions
Attendance at the surgery
Referrals

We will not see any case notes or know about any discussions you may or may not have had with your GP. If you agree, the surgery's Strategic Business Manager, will provide this information to the researchers in an anonymised form using a special id system that prevents researchers knowing your identity. This data is being collected to enable us to make calculations on costs only. It is being collected to assess the economic impact of the Wellbeing Programme.

#### **Confidentiality of information**

All data and consent forms will be kept confidential and stored in a locked filing cabinet at UWE. Your anonymised data and questionnaires will be transcribed by the researchers. You will remain anonymous. Any identifiable information, such as your age, will be removed from the typed up notes and also from any reports or publications that are produced using these data.

#### Withdrawal of data

You are free to withdraw from the research at any time. David will explain this in more detail. If you wish to withdraw your contribution at anytime, please contact the researchers (contact details below). However, please note that, due to the nature of the anonymised questionnaire, once this data has been collected, and your contribution anonymised, this will no longer be possible. So if you wish to withdraw your data, you will need to do so within 2 weeks of the questionnaire completion taking place.

#### What will happen if I decide not to be involved with the research?

Nothing. Your entitlement to services and support provided at the Wellspring Healthy Living Centre will continue as normal.

Please keep this information in a safe place.

If you have any questions about this research, please contact:

Dr Richard Kimberlee
Faculty of Health and Life Sciences
University of the West of England
Coldharbour Lane
Bristol

BS16 1QY

Tel: 0117 3281124

Email: Richard.Kimberlee@uwe.ac.uk

or Dr Rachel Manning

Faculty of Health and Life Sciences
University of the West of England

Coldharbour Lane

Bristol BS16 1QY

Tel: 0117 3283956

Email: Rachel.Manning@uwe.ac.uk

If you have any questions about the database that will confidentially store your anonymised surgery and questionnaire data please contact:

Ian Lawry Chief Executive Officer Wellspring Healthy Living Centre Beam Street Barton Hill Bristol BS5 9QY

Tel: 0117 304 1416

Email: <u>ian.lawry@wellspringhlc.org</u>

#### Participant consent form: Evaluation of Wellspring's Wellbeing Programme

The purpose of this form is to ensure that you have received all the necessary information concerning the research project and wish to take part. Please read the following statements carefully. If you agree that all points of information have been covered please sign and date the sheet in the space provided below. If you are unclear on any point please ask David or contact us.

#### **Consent statement**

I have read and understand the information presented in the Information Sheet. I have had the opportunity to discuss it with David and to ask any questions. I understand that:

- My participation is entirely voluntary
- I am free to refuse to answer any question on the survey
- I am free to cancel the release of any GP data anytime
- I am free to withdraw from the research project at anytime

I agree to take part in the above project and I give my permission for anonymised data on my prescriptions, attendance at the GP surgery and referral destination information to be given.

#### **Participant information**

| Name:   |
|---------|
| Signed: |
| Date:   |

If you have any questions about this research, please contact:

Dr Richard Kimberlee
Faculty of Health and Life Sciences
University of the West of England
Coldharbour Lane
Bristol
BS16 1QY

or Dr Rachel Manning
Faculty of Health and Life Sciences
University of the West of England
Coldharbour Lane
Bristol
BS16 1QY

Email: Richard.Kimberlee@uwe.ac.uk Email: Rachel.Manning@uwe.ac.uk

### Participant consent form: Evaluation of Wellspring's Wellbeing Programme

The purpose of this form is to ensure that you have received all the necessary information concerning the research project and wish to take part. Please read the following statements carefully. If you agree that all points of information have been covered please sign and date the sheet in the space provided below. If you are unclear on any point please ask.

#### **Consent statement**

I have read and understand the information presented in the Information Sheet. I have had the opportunity to discuss it with the researcher and to ask any questions. I understand that:

- My participation is entirely voluntary
- I am free to refuse to answer any question during the discussion group
- I am free to withdraw my contribution from the group discussion (within two weeks see the Information Sheet for further details)

I agree to take part in the above project and I give my permission for the group discussion to be audio-tape recorded and used for research purposes.

#### **Participant information**

| Namo |       |  |  |  |  |  |
|------|-------|--|--|--|--|--|
|      | Name: |  |  |  |  |  |

| Signed:                              | •••••                               |
|--------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| Date:                                |                                     |
|                                      |                                     |
|                                      |                                     |
| If you have any questions about this | research, please contact:           |
| Dr Richard Kimberlee                 | or Dr Rachel Manning                |
| Faculty of Health and Life Sciences  | Faculty of Health and Life Sciences |
| University of the West of England    | University of the West of England   |
| Coldharbour Lane                     | Coldharbour Lane                    |
| Bristol                              | Bristol                             |
| BS16 1QY                             | BS16 1QY                            |
| Email: Richard Kimherlee@uwe ac uk   | Fmail: Rachel Manning@uwe ac uk     |

# Appendix 2: Stakeholder interview schedule

#### **Stakeholder Interview Schedule**

| Names   |
|---|
| Activity  |
| Your organization   |
| Building owned by who?  |
| How and when did you get involved with the Wellbeing Programme Project? |
| What do you think are the Aims of Wellbeing Programme?                  |
| What activities have you seen?  |
| What impact do you think it has?  |
| What are the benefits?  |
| What are the negative or unintended consequences?                       |
| Critical of Mental Health services                                      |
| Critical of CBT   |
| Helping others  |
| What other groups they go to  |
|   |
| What would they do if the Wellbeing Programme wasn't here?              |
| What are the costs involved?  |
| How much would people pay?  |
|   |

# APPENDIX 3: WHLC REGISTRATION FORM

## **Wellspring Health & Wellbeing Programme**

### **Registration Form**

POSTCODE

| CLIENT ID:/ | DATE://       |
|-------------|---------------|
|             |               |
|             |               |
| NAME:       | Date of Birth |
| ADDRESS:    | Home Tel      |
| NUMBER      | Mobile        |
|             | Work Tel      |
| STREET      | E-mail*       |
|             |               |
| TOWN        |               |
|             |               |

| How did you hear about us?        |  |
|-----------------------------------|--|
| Word of mouth or through a friend |  |

| Τ |
|---|
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
| f |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |

| Yes  |                    | No           |               | Don't wish to say          |          |   |  |  |  |
|--|--------------------|--------------|---------------|----------------------------|----------|---|--|--|--|
|  | <u>.</u>           |              |               |                            |          |   |  |  |  |
|  |                    |              |               |                            |          |   |  |  |  |
| Sexual orientation:  |                    |              |               | Dia                        |          |   |  |  |  |
| Heterosexual   |                    |              |               | Bisexual                   |          |   |  |  |  |
| Lesbian  |                    |              |               | Gay                        |          |   |  |  |  |
| Other  |                    |              |               | Don't wish to say          |          | 1 |  |  |  |
| Which of the following                                     | best describes v   | our curren   | t situation?  |                            |          |   |  |  |  |
| Live alone   | ,                  |              | Live with par | tner                       |          |   |  |  |  |
| Live with partner and c                                    | hildren            |              |               | elative (e.g. a parent)    |          |   |  |  |  |
| Live with children   |                    |              | Live with par | ent and children           |          |   |  |  |  |
| Other (Please say):  | <u> </u>           |              | Don't wish to | o say                      |          |   |  |  |  |
|  |                    |              |               |                            |          |   |  |  |  |
|  |                    |              |               |                            |          |   |  |  |  |
| Are you a carer for son                                    | neone with disab   | ility or hea | Ith needs?    |                            |          |   |  |  |  |
| Yes  |                    | No           |               | Don't wish to say          |          |   |  |  |  |
| If Yes please give detail                                  | ls:                |              |               |                            | <b>'</b> |   |  |  |  |
|  |                    |              |               |                            |          |   |  |  |  |
|  |                    |              |               |                            |          |   |  |  |  |
| Accommodation:   |                    |              |               |                            |          |   |  |  |  |
| Own home   |                    |              | Private re    | ented                      |          |   |  |  |  |
| Council or housing asso                                    | ociation           |              | Nursing/F     | Nursing/Residential        |          |   |  |  |  |
| Other (Please say):  |                    |              |               |                            |          |   |  |  |  |
|  |                    |              |               |                            |          |   |  |  |  |
|  |                    |              |               |                            |          |   |  |  |  |
| Which of the following                                     | s best describes y | our curren   |               |                            |          |   |  |  |  |
| At school  |                    |              |               | Further Education/Training |          |   |  |  |  |
| Retired  |                    |              |               | Employed                   |          |   |  |  |  |
| Seeking to work  |                    |              |               | Self employed              |          |   |  |  |  |
| Full time looking after home or family  Other (Please say) |                    |              |               |                            |          |   |  |  |  |
|  |                    |              |               |                            |          |   |  |  |  |
| Emergency Contact Na                                       | me:                |              |               | Tel No:                    |          |   |  |  |  |
|  |                    |              |               | 10.110.                    |          |   |  |  |  |

We operate a secure system of holding information. The Company will only use personal data in connection with its charitable purposes. It does not make personal data available to any other organisation or individual without prior consent. Anonymised information in this form will be used in summary monitoring and evaluation reports. These reports enable us to be accountable to our funders and the communities we serve. Further details on our Data Protection Policy are available from Wellspring Healthy Living Centre.

| I consent to Wellspring HLC Ltd holding information in accordance with the Confid | dentiality and Protection statement. |
|---|--------------------------------------|
| Signature   | Date                                 |
| Wellspring is a membership organisation and members are called Friends            | of Wellspring. Please tick if        |
| you would like to be a Friend of Wellspring. For more information please a        | ask a member of staff $\Box$         |

# APPENDIX 4: the new beneficiary interview schedule

#### Main schedule/questions/topic guide:

#### **Initial contact:**

Can you tell me how you first heard about Wellbeing/Branching Out? What was life like for you before you became part of Branching Out? Why did you decide to join the Wellbeing/Branching Out programme? How long ago did you first come here? Have you used any similar services anywhere before?

#### Experience of the service:

What was your experience like of being on the Branching Out programme? What were the best things about the programme? Was there anything that you didn't enjoy or were difficult for you? Is there anything that you would change about your experience of Branching Out?

#### Impact of the service:

What impact did the service have for you?
Is life for you any different after coming to Branching Out?
How do you think you have benefitted from the Branching Out programme?
Did they provide you with any advice on other services to access?
Did they refer and or go to any other service....HOW MANY TIMES WHERE AND WHAT for.

What aspects of your life have changed following your involvement in Branching Out? Follow up about how they feel on;

a day to day basis, life at home, are they employed (Check confidence on getting a job if u/e) Social life? Managing day to day tasks and problems? Any others e.g. well-being?). Why do you think this is? Physical health...any noticeable changes Exercise...walking more

#### Any other aspects of health

What aspects of Branching Out contributed to this?
What do you think life would be like for you now if you hadn't used the Branching Out

service?

If the Branching Out service wasn't available to you, what do you think you might have done instead? (Document particularly evidence around suicide, drug and alcohol abuse)

What aspects of the Branching Out programme helped you the most?

How did it help you?

What do you feel you have achieved as a result of this service?

What do you think has been the broader impact of the service?

Has it had any impact on your family? (Has partner got a job since programme)

#### Looking at your neighbourhood

How do you feel about the people in your neighbourhood?

Have you had any help from anyone else apart from the programme e.g. friend

Try and quantify this % for vicar, friend, neighbour,

#### Economic value of the programme.

Do you know how this project is funded?

If you were asked to pay a contribution would you/are you able too?

Check at the start of the programme

Now?

If they were offered a grant?

#### **Looking forward:**

Are there any challenges that you feel you still face in your daily life?
How might these be overcome?
Has your experience with Branching Out helped with thinking about this?
In terms of future plans, is there anything in particular that you'd like to achieve in the next years?

# APPENDIX 5: The Wellspring Wellbeing Questionnaire (WWQ)

**Id Number** 

| L, Duri | ng the p  | ast fo           | our w  | eeks:  |        |                     |        |         |       |        |                    |         |                    |            |
|---------|-----------|------------------|--------|--------|--------|---------------------|--------|---------|-------|--------|--------------------|---------|--------------------|------------|
|         | Has it l  | been e<br>Alwa   |        | o rela |        | other               |        | ne      | Aboı  | ut hal | f the t            | ime     | Occasionally       | Not at all |
|         | I felt is | olated<br>Alwa   |        | n othe | -      | ople:<br>st of th   | ne tin | ne      | Aboı  | ut hal | f the t            | ime     | Occasionally       | Not at all |
|         | I had s   | omeo<br>Alwa     |        | share  | •      | feeling<br>st of th | -      |         | Aboı  | ut hal | f the t            | ime     | Occasionally       | Not at all |
|         | I found   | l it eas<br>Alwa |        | get in |        | h with              |        |         |       |        | led to:<br>f the t |         | Occasionally       | Not at all |
|         | When      | with o           |        | peop   |        | elt sep<br>st of th |        |         |       |        | f the t            | ime     | Occasionally       | Not at all |
|         | I felt al | lone a<br>Alwa   |        | iendle |        | st of th            | ne tin | ne      | Aboı  | ut hal | f the t            | ime     | Occasionally       | Not at all |
| 2       | Overal    |                  |        |        | -      | ou wit              | h yo   | ur life | e nov | vaday  | ys? W              | here (  | ) is not satisfied | at all and |
|         |           | 0                | -      | 2      | 3      | 4                   | 5      | 6       | 7     | 8      | 9                  | 10      |                    |            |
|         | Overa     | all, ho          | w ha   | ppy d  | id yo  | u feel              | yeste  | erday   | ? W   | here   | 0 is no            | ot at a | ll and 10 is com   | pletely.   |
|         |           | 0                | 1      | 2      | 3      | 4                   | 5      | 6       | 7     | 8      | 9                  | 10      |                    |            |
|         | Overal    | l, how           | v anxi | ious c | lid yo | ou feel             | yest   | erday   | y? W  | here/  | 0 is n             | ot at a | all and 10 is com  | pletely.   |
|         |           | 0                | 1      | 2      | 3      | 4                   | 5      | 6       | 7     | 8      | 9                  | 10      |                    |            |
|         | Overal    |                  |        |        |        | -                   |        |         |       |        | -                  | ur life | are worthwhile     | ? Where 0  |
|         |           | 0                | 1      | 2      | 3      | 4                   | 5      | 6       | 7     | 8      | 9                  | 10      |                    |            |

| 3, During the last 7 da                        | ays, on how man             | y days    | did you v        | valk for      | at least        | 10 minutes at a            | time?                           |
|--|-----------------------------|-----------|------------------|---------------|-----------------|----------------------------|---------------------------------|
|  | 1 2                         | 3         | 4                | 5             | 6               | 7                          |                                 |
| During the last week                           | -                           | -         | _                |               | oderate         | e exercise (e.g. b         | risk walking,                   |
| gardening, housewor                            |                             |           |                  |               |                 |                            |                                 |
|  | 1 2                         | 3         | 4                | 5             | 6               | 7                          |                                 |
| During the last 7 days digging, aerobics, or f |                             | days dic  | d you do         | vigorous      | s physic        | al activities like         | heavy lifting,                  |
|  | 1 2                         | 3         | 4                | 5             | 6               | 7                          |                                 |
| 4, Taking everything i                         | into account, wh            | at do y   | ou think         | of this a     | rea as a        | place to live?             |                                 |
| A very good place to live                      | A fairly good place to live |           | Neithe<br>nor ba | er good<br>id |                 | A fairly bad place to live | A very bad place to live        |
| 5, Overall, are you sa                         | itisfied with youi          | neighl    | oourhood         | 1?            |                 |                            |                                 |
| Yes  | No                          |           | Don't            | Know          |                 |                            |                                 |
| 6, How well would yo<br>are                    | ou say you yourse           | elf are r | managing         | g financia    | ally the        | se days? Would             | you say you                     |
| Living<br>comfortably                          | Doing<br>alright            |           | Just al          |               | Findir<br>quite | ng it<br>difficult         | Finding it<br>very<br>difficult |
| 7, What benefits do y                          | ou receive?                 |           |                  |               |                 |                            |                                 |
|  |                             |           |                  |               |                 |                            |                                 |
|  |                             |           |                  |               |                 |                            |                                 |